Akram Sidhu, <u>Antioxidants, Exercise, and Brain Function</u>. Doctor of Philosophy (Biomedical Sciences), November, 2015, 109 pages, 17 illustrations, 48 titles.

Aging is associated with a decline in psychomotor and cognitive function. Interventions such as exercise and antioxidants supplementation when investigated independently have been beneficial counteracting oxidative stress and improving brain function in both human and animals. A large number of health conscious individuals often combine exercise with vitamin supplementation, anticipating a synergistic effect maximizing their performance. While some studies reported additive effects, others have also indicated a potential for an antagonistic action of the antioxidants on the beneficial effects of exercise. To date, it has not been well established what the nature of the interaction between antioxidant supplementation and exercise is in terms of functional outcomes and whether age will influence the outcomes.

The purpose of this study was to determine if combination of antioxidant supplementation, and moderate exercise could ameliorate psychomotor and cognitive performance of young and old male mice

Using vitamins C and E and a treadmill-based forced exercise in young and old C57BL/6J mice, we explored the nature of that interaction on functional and biochemical outcomes. We examined the mice for spatial learning and memory, working memory and executive function, coordinated running performance, muscular reflexes, spontaneous locomotor activity, anxiety and muscle strength.

Our data suggested that the male mice exhibited age-associated declines in psychomotor and cognitive performance. Antioxidants supplementation worsened the cognitive flexibility of old mice but improved the depression-like symptoms in young mice. Overall, exercise training reversed the age-related declines in reflexes and balance of old mice, and improved strength and associative learning of young mice only. Furthermore, combination of exercise and antioxidant improved reflexes, motor and cognitive performance, but additive or antagonistic effects of antioxidants on the beneficial effects of exercise were not observed.

Hence we can conclude that, combining antioxidants and exercise may not be provide any additional benefit in reversing age-related functional impairments.

ANTIOXIDANTS, EXERCISE, AND BRAIN FUNCTION

AKRAM SIDHU, M. S.

APPROVED:

Major Professor

Committee Member

Committee Member

Committee Member

University Member

Chair, Department of Pharmacology and Neuroscience

Dean, Graduate School of Biomedical Science

ANTIOXIDANTS, EXERCISE, AND BRAIN FUNCTION

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Graduate Council of the

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

University of North Texas

Health Science Center at Fort Worth

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Akram Sidhu, M. S.

Fort Worth, Texas

November, 2015

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to express my utmost gratitude towards individuals without whom I would not be able to come this far. Firstly, I would like to start with my mentor, Dr. Nathalie Sumien. Her vision, hard work, guidance, advice and regular encouragement motivated me through the challenges and helped me tread on. I have acquired several skills on a scientific and personal level from her. Her hard work and patience is admirable applaudable; I will always look up to her as a role model and hope to follow her footsteps of not just as a professional but as a human being. I would like to extend my gratitude to my committee members Dr. Michael Forster, Dr. Eric Gonzales, Dr. Rebecca Cunningham and Dr. Johnny He for their kind support, valuable time and the knowledge they shared with me.

Furthermore, my colleagues from Dr. Sumien' s lab, Dr. Kiran Chaudari, Jessica Wong, Philip Vann, Dr. Samuel Ikonne, James Mock, Haydee Izurieta Munoz and Robbyn Kindle for their constant support and efforts. I would also like to thank Dr. Ritu Shetty, Dr. Nopporn Thangthaeng. Dr. Margaret Rutledge, and Tori Conger for their support and guidance. I thank my friends Dr. Manmeet Mamik, Harpreet, Nikhil, Sangeeta, Ritika and Preety for their help and support.

I would like to thank my Grandmother, Mom, Dad, Brother and Harprit for their understanding, love and constant support.

Last but not least, I would extend my heartfelt acknowledgement to everyone in the Department of Pharmacology & Neuroscience and University of North Texas Health Science Center that made this experience monumental in my career and personal journey.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	PAGE #
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	vi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
AGING	2
AGING AND OXIDATIVE STRESS	
The redox stress hypothesis of aging	6
Oxidative, Redox Stress and Brain Aging	7
ANTIOXIDANT SUPPLEMENTATION AND AGING	9
Vitamin C and Aging	10
Vitamin E and Aging	
EXERCISE AND AGING	14
AGING AND INFLAMATION	16
GOALS OF CURRENT RESEARCH	17
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
ANIMALS	
TREATMENT	
FOOD INTAKE	
FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENT OF MICE	29
Locomotor activity	
Motor learning	
Simple reflexes	

	Wire suspension			
	Bridge walking			
	Morris water maze			
	Discriminated Avoidance			
	Tail suspension test			
	Preparation of tissue homogenates			
	Oxidative stress markers			
	Plasma inflammatory markers			
	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS			
3.	RESULTS			
	Body weight and food intake41			
	Locomotor activity4			
	Motor learning			
	Reflexive and motor performance42			
	Spatial learning and memory43			
	Discriminated avoidance test44			
	Tail Suspension Test45			
	Oxidative stress markers45			
	Inflammatory markers			
	FIGURES AND LEGENDS47			
4.	DISCUSSION			
5.	CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS			
	REFERENCES			

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

CHAPTER: PAGE # **CHAPTER 1 CHAPTER 2 CHAPTER 3** Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on body weight (A) and food intake (B) in Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant regimen on locomotor activity as measured by total distance travelled (A), rearing activity (B), and time spent in the center (C) in 4 and 20-months old Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on motor learning in 4 and 20-months old

Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on catalase activity in 6 brain regions in 4
and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice
Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on GSH/GSSG ratio in 6 brain regions in
4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice
Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on inflammatory markers in 6 brain regions
in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

AGING

The human body goes through the inevitable multifactorial process of aging characterized by an increased vulnerability to disease (Mandavilli et al. 2002; Troen 2003; Harman 2003; Alexeyev et al. 2004; Peters 2006a). Recent advances in medical technology and aging research have facilitated human life expectancy (Olshansky et al. 2009). According to the United Nations (UN), our world population is undergoing a demographic shift that will result in much more older individuals in the coming years. The number of persons over age 60 will be reaching approximately 2 billion by 2050 (United Nations 2008). Although, there has been a dramatic increase in average human life expectancy, it is not necessarily associated with a better health span. Aged individuals are more susceptible to chronic diseases, including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular disorders, and neurodegenerative diseases (Perry 2010; Vaupel 2010). This causes loss of autonomy, dependence, distress and high social costs for individuals and society, which will result in higher financial burden on our healthcare system. In addition, it is estimated that anti-aging enthusiasts will spend \$191.7 billion by 2019 for treatments that mask the effects of aging (Market Research 2014). However, these interventions do not treat the cause of aging and to this day the key molecular mechanisms of aging remain undiscovered. While we may not have found the fountain of youth yet, aging research has made significant contributions in developing therapies. (HARMAN 1956; Yu 1996; Beckman and Ames 1998a; Shukitt-Hale et al. 1999; Ashok and Ali 1999; Kontush et al. 2001; Young and Woodside 2001; Biesalski 2002; Fang et al. 2002; Mandavilli et al. 2002; Grodstein et al. 2003; Harman 2003; Troen 2003; Weinert and Timiras 2003; Alexeyev et al. 2004; Sumien et al. 2004; Buffenstein 2005; Kramer et al. 2006; Peters 2006b; Glisky 2007; Olshansky et al. 2009; Fontana et al. 2010). These therapies help prevent or delay age-related diseases by understanding mechanisms underlying the effects of aging and thus help individuals to live longer than before (Figure 1) (United Nations World population prospects. 2008). Some of the major theories of aging are discussed in the following paragraphs.

AGING AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

Many theories have been put forward to explain the phenomenon of aging and its impact on physiological and neurological function (Table 1) including: evolutionary theories (Weinert and Timiras 2003), the free radical theory (Harman 2003), the mitochondrial theory (Cadenas and Davies 2000), the immunologic theory (Franceschi et al. 2000) and the inflammation theory (Chung et al. 2001). One of the most robust and accepted Free radical theory of aging has been modofied to oxidative stress hypothesis of aging.

Oxidative Stress Hypothesis of Aging

Free radical theory

Free radicals are positively, negatively or neutraly charged atoms or group of atoms that has one or more unpaired electrons. Radicals are involved in a variety of normal biochemical reactions, and are generally unstable and very reactive (Fang et al. 2002). The free radical theory of aging was proposed by Denham Harman in 1956 (HARMAN 1956). According to the free radical theory of aging, cells continuously produce free radicals by normal metabolism and oxidation of organic compounds. The free radical causes damage to the cellular macromolecules (DNA, protein, and lipids), and accumulation of these changes over time is hypothesized to cause aging. This theory has been tested and supported by many research groups thus far (Cross et al. 1987; Sohal et al. 1994; Beckman and Ames 1998b; Ashok and Ali 1999; Biesalski 2002; Liochev 2013a).

Subsequent findings have led to a modified version of the free radical theory, the oxidative stress hypothesis of aging that proposes that reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated during mitochondrial respiration have the ability to damage cellular components, and are responsible for age-related functional loss (Sohal and Weindruch 1996; Beckman and Ames 1998a). ROS are highly reactive chemical species that can react with other molecules and become "reduced" in the process (Liochev 2013b). During aerobic respiration, electrons escape the electron transport chain and combine with surrounding oxygen to produce superoxide anion radical (O_2^{\bullet}) . In the living cell, superoxide anion radical is transformed by superoxide dismutase into hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) that can react with iron or copper to form the hydroxyl radical ($\cdot OH$), which is extremely reactive and has the potential to oxidize and damage cellular components (Sohal and Weindruch 1996; Beckman and Ames 1998a). The prevention and repair of these damages are facilitated by detoxifying antioxidants such as vitamins E and C, as well as enzymatic antioxidants including superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, glutathione peroxidase, and glutathione reductase (Halliwell 1996; Cadenas and Davies 2000). Furthermore, other endogenous enzymes such as thioredoxin peroxidase and reductase, and glucose-6 phosphate dehydrogenase can protect cells from oxidative damage by maintaining a reducing environment (Beckman and Ames 1998a). One of the key enzyme involved in the DNA repair is Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP), which utilizes nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD^{+}) as a substrate (Burkle et al. 2005). With aging PARP can be over-activated, which results in depletion of NAD⁺ stores and subsequently causing brain dysfunction (Beneke and Burkle 2004). Earlier studies have indicated that vitamin E and vitamin C protects against apoptosis, DNA damage, and glutamate toxicity (Fischer-Nielsen et al. 1994; Zhang et al. 1997). A recent finding also suggests that Vitamin C protects neurons through inhibition of PARP-1 (Shah et al. 2015).

Mice deficient in α -tocopherol transfer protein (α TTP)-deficient mice with complete vitamin E deficiency lead to severe neurological disorders (Yokota et al. 2001a). Similarly, decreased vitamin E levels in the brain of transgenic phospholipid transfer deficient mice lead to deficits in affective and locomotor function (Desrumaux et al. 2005). Furthermore, decrease in endogenous vitamin C levels in the brain has been associated with impaired cognition, and elevated oxidative stress levels in aged mice (Dixit et al. 2015). During aging, production of ROS is stimulated in various tissues that lead to depletion of antioxidant stores and subsequently causing age-associated functional declines (Sohal et al. 1993; Cadenas and Davies 2000). Furthermore, studies involving knocking out SOD1 in flies or targeted inactivation of SOD1 in rodents provide a strong correlation between elevated free radical production and reduction of lifespan (Phillips et al. 1989; Finkel and Holbrook 2000; Elchuri et al. 2005). Also, caloric restriction without malnutrition reduces age-related mortality in rhesus monkey (Colman et al. 2014) and extend the lifespan of rodents, which is accompanied by reduced oxidative damage and improvement of other physiological parameters (Sohal and Weindruch 1996).

Interestingly, young naked-mole rats exhibit high oxidative stress which remains stable even at advanced ages (Lewis et al. 2013). Furthermore, in contrast to C57Bl6 mice, which show higher incidence of tumors, naked-mole rats are resistant to tumor and show minimal age-associated functional changes. Recent studies show that proteasomes of naked mole rats are more efficient in removal of soluble protein carbonyls and more resistant to formation of protein aggregates (Shringarpure and Davies 2002; Buffenstein 2005; Buffenstein 2008; Lewis et al. 2013).

Recently, researchers have discovered that ROS are implicated in cell signaling required for proper cell function. For example, physiological concentrations of ROS especially H_2O_2 is critical to cellular signaling and ontogeny (Beckman and Ames 1998a; Massaad and Klann 2011).

Recent studies demonstrated that suppression of ROS prevented long-term potentiation, a model of associative memory (Serrano and Klann 2004). Furthermore, recent reports suggest that increase in age-related functional losses does not always match the level of oxidative damage accumulated during aging (Muller et al. 2007; Perez et al. 2009a). Also, strategies aimed to augment intrinsic antioxidant defenses to counterbalance oxidative stress did not enhance the lifespan of mice (Mele et al. 2006; Jang et al. 2009; Perez et al. 2009b). Similarly, in most recent studies the under-expression of major antioxidant enzymes failed to shorten the lifespan in mice, except in Cu/ZnSOD-null mice (Sentman et al. 2006; Sentman et al. 2006; Perez et al. 2009b). As aforementioned ROS are now defined as physiologically vital molecules required for signal transduction, gene regulation, and redox regulation. With these recent reports in minds, a revised version of the oxidative stress hypothesis has been advanced.

The Current State of Oxidative Stress Theory: The redox stress hypothesis of aging

The revised hypothesis proposes that with advancement in age antioxidant defenses weaken, and more oxidants are generated. This results in pro-oxidizing shift in the redox state of the cells resulting in over-oxidation of redox-sensitive protein thiols, and consequent disruption of the redox-regulated signaling mechanisms (Sohal and Orr 2012). In the cell, total GSH exists as free and bound to proteins. Glutathione reductase enzyme catalyzes the conversion of oxidized (GSSG) to the reduced form (GSH). Since, glutathione reductase enzyme is constitutively active and induced by oxidative stress, the amount of GSH is usually more as compared to the GSSG (Zitka et al. 2012). The GSH:GSSG ratio is commonly used as a measure of cellular redox (Carelli et al. 1997; Noctor and Foyer 1998; Locigno and Castronovo 2001; Townsend et al. 2003). Furthermore, the GSH:GSSG redox couple is also the main and most abundant contributor to redox potential (Chai et al. 1994; Maher 2006; Rebrin et al. 2011). With age, the glutathione redox state

becomes progressively more pro-oxidizing as indicated by the decline in GSH:GSSG ratio and associated age-related impairment in biological function (Rebrin et al. 2003; Rebrin and Sohal 2004; Maher 2006; Rebrin et al. 2011; Sohal and Forster 2014). Furthermore, recent studies have demonstrated that over-expression of glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL), which is the rate limiting enzyme in GSH production, helped to increase the lifespan of long-lived flies (Rebrin et al. 2011). Taken together, there are strong evidences to support the redox stress hypothesis. However, further studies will be needed to demonstrate conclusively the redox stress hypothesis and reveal the mechanisms that underlie the aging process.

Oxidative, Redox Stress and Brain Aging

It has been noted that aging is associated with an overall decline in physiological function, and impairments of sensory, motor and cognitive functions (Yan et al. 1998; Yan et al. 2000; Yan et al. 2000; Peters 2006a; Peters 2006a; Liu et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2013). The brain is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress due to its high aerobic metabolism rate, abundance of substrates like iron and polyunsaturated fatty acids, relatively low antioxidant capacity, and non-replicating nature of its neuronal cells (Evans 1993) However, neurogenesis has been observed in adult brain regions in such as subventricular zone and the subgranular zone of the hippocampal dentate gyrus (Ma et al. 2009; Ming and Song 2011). Furthermore, the newly born neurons are believed to migrate to neighboring brain regions such as olfactory bulb and dentate gyrus, where they differentiate into specialized neurons or modulate memory function (Imayoshi et al. 2008).Alongside, an extensive body of evidence indicates that aging involves an increase in oxidative stress and results in oxidation of cellular protein, lipid and DNA (HARMAN 1956; Richter et al. 1988; Richter et al. 1988; Richter et al. 1988; Richter et al. 1988; Richter et al. 1994; Agarwal and Sohal 1994; Agarwal and Sohal 1994; Sumien et al. 2004; Sohal and Orr 2012; Sohal and Orr 2012). Several studies provided evidence that aged brains were more susceptible to protein oxidation, which may underlie age-related functional impairment (Carney et al. 1991). In a study by Forster et al., an increase in protein oxidation in the cerebral cortex, hindbrain, and cerebellum was significantly correlated with performance in the Morris water maze (MWM), walk initiation, and bride walking tasks, respectively (Forster et al. 1996). Furthermore, recent studies have revealed that effect of oxidative stress in the brain to be inconsistent (Wang and Michaelis 2010a). Research suggests that, while many brain neurons can cope with an increase in oxidative stress, some were selectively vulnerable (Serrano and Klann 2004). Due to this differential effect of oxidative stress, the affected neurons are usually first to exhibit functional decline during normal aging. For example, the first regions to undergo degenerative aging are the hippocampus and cerebral cortex which are responsible for age-related decline in cognition (Wang and Michaelis 2010b). Furthermore, declines in strength, balance, and coordination are also associated with oxidative damage in the basal ganglia and cerebellum (Forster et al. 1996).

Numerous studies have documented the important role of antioxidant GSH, as a defense against oxidative stress. GSH is widely distributed in most tissues, including the brain (Pileblad and Magnusson 1990). Interestingly, a decline in GSH levels is associated with aging and many age-related diseases (Currais and Maher 2013). Furthermore, depletion of GSH in the brain is associated with neuronal damage and changes in brain function associated with age (Ames et al. 1993; Shukitt-Hale et al. 1998; Shukitt-Hale et al. 1999; Currais and Maher 2013; LeVault et al. 2015). In a study, Shukitt-Hale et al. showed that intracerebroventricular injections of buthionine sulfoximine followed by dopamine induced reductions in brain GSH levels associated with motor and cognitive deficits in Fischer 344 (F344) rats (Shukitt-Hale et al. 1997; Shukitt-Hale et al.

1998). A recent study by LeVault et al. found that lower brain GSH levels are associated with poor water maze performance (LeVault et al. 2015). Taken together, these studies suggest alteration in the GSH levels might affect motor and cognitive function

There are abundant studies that have indicated the role of dysregulated redox state in pathophysiology of aging (Sohal and Orr 2012). Therefore, any interventions that would reduce oxidative or redox stress may prevent or delay age-related functional deficits. One such intervention is caloric restriction, which retards the aging process, delays the age-associated decline in physiological fitness, and extends the life span of organisms of diverse phylogenetic groups (Holehan and Merry 1986; Yu 1996; Fontana et al. 2010; Sohal and Forster 2014). However, the effect of CR does not seem to be universal and is not a practical options for many (Sohal and Forster 2014). Therefore, other interventions have been studied to alleviate the effects of aging; such as exercise and antioxidant supplementation. Their individual effects on brain function are introduced in the following paragraphs.

ANTIOXIDANT SUPPLEMENTATION AND AGING

An important intervention widely studied to reduce effects of aging is the intake of antioxidants. An antioxidant can be defined as "substances that delays or inhibits the oxidation of that substrate (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1995; Halliwell 1996). To demonstrate, recent studies indicate that antioxidant supplements are vital to maintain redox homeostasis in the living system (Young and Woodside 2001). Antioxidant supplements can act through various mechanisms such as 1) directly neutralize or decreasing ROS production, 2) prevent and repair ROS-related damage to biomolecules; and (3) elevating the endogenous antioxidant levels (Berger 2005).

Due to the lack of complete understanding of the mechanisms of aging, our endeavor to healthy aging has been challenging. To date most interventions aiming to reduce age-related psychomotor and cognitive decline provide little to no benefit. However, aging research for several decades has revealed the importance of lifestyle modifications, which includes healthy eating habits such as diets rich in antioxidants, vitamins, and micro-nutrients. In this study we focus on dietary supplements rich in antioxidant such as vitamins E and vitamin C.

Vitamin C and Aging

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) (Figure 1A) is a strong water-soluble antioxidant and provides first line of defense against free radicals generated during normal cellular metabolism, in whole blood and plasma (Fusco et al. 2007). Notably, humans, unlike other animals (except fruit bats, guinea pigs and primates) are unable to synthesize vitamin C, due to an inherited mutation in a key liver enzyme l-gulonolactone oxidase that is responsible for biosynthesis of ascorbic acid from glucose (Drouin et al. 2011) Therefore, humans are entirely dependent on exogenous sources to meet demands of the body (Levine 1986; Drouin et al. 2011). While, humans primarily obtain vitamin C from fruits and vegetables, chemically identical synthetic or food-derived vitamin C are available, which differ in bioavailability. Also, natural vitamin C is unstable when exposed to oxygen or certain minerals. An alternate source, L-ascorbyl-2-polyphosphate yields 25% ascorbic acid activity in a stable form, is commonly used in animal diets as a source of vitamin C (de Rodas et al. 1998).

In humans, lower doses of vitamin C intake (<60 mg/day) are associated with reduced risks of cancer, cardiovascular diseases and cataracts. While, higher doses of vitamin C intake (>60 mg/day) resulted in increases in high density lipoproteins, and decreases in low density lipoproteins oxidation, blood pressure and cardiovascular mortality (Bendich and Langseth 1995).

Vitamin C is involved in various metabolic reactions and is required for normal physiological functioning of brain among animals and humans (Gale et al. 1996; Bowman et al.

2009a; Tveden-Nyborg et al. 2012). Interestingly, the brain is minimally affected by vitamin C deficiency, due to presence of specialized sodium dependent vitamin C co-transporters (SVCT2) that actively transport vitamin C in exchange of sodium. First the ascorbate is transported from plasma into the cerebrospinal fluid and then from extracellular fluid into neurons (Qiu et al., 2007). This active transport builds a 4-fold vitamin C plasma gradient in rats (200-400 μ mol/L in CSF, 60 μ mol/L in plasma) and 3-fold in human (160 μ mol/L in CSF, 40 to 60 μ mol/L in plasma)(Costa et al. 2012).

Unlike neurons, astrocytes do not express SVCT2 transporter and instead rely on passive facilitated diffusion of oxidized ascorbate, dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) via Glucose transporters (GLUT-transporters). Vitamin C can thus cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) in its oxidized form using GLUT1 (Hotting and Roder 2013). It readily enters the brain and is retained in brain tissue in the form of ascorbic acid (Agus et al. 1997).

Furthermore, vitamin C gets differentially distributed among various regions of the brain with hippocampus and the frontal cortex containing the highest concentrations (Hansen et al. 2014). Furthermore, adequate levels of vitamin C improve survival and prevent cerebral hemorrhages in newborn transgenic mice deficient in vitamin C (Sotiriou et al. 2002; Harrison et al. 2010). Furthermore, insufficient vitamin C can reduce hippocampal volume and neuronal count. Also, vitamin C deficiency can worsen the cognitive performance of guinea pigs and elevate oxidation markers, i.e., protein carbonyls, in various tissues (Tveden-Nyborg et al. 2012).

Vitamin C supplementation improved the performance of old mice on elevated plus maze, a passive avoidance task, habituation-based task in a light-dark paradigm (de Angelis and Furlan 1995; Parle and Dhingra 2003; Shahidi et al. 2008). Furthermore, vitamin C reduced the dopamine depletion and oxidative damage induced by the 1-methyl-4-phenyl pyridinium ion (Wagner et al. 1986). In another study, vitamin C protected CA1 area of the hippocampus against β -amyloidinduced oxidative stress and cytokine release in rats (Rosales-Corral et al. 2003).

Recent studies in humans suggest that plasma levels of vitamin C reduced with aging and higher levels are found to be positively correlated with cognitive performance in elderly (Foy et al. 1999; Grodstein et al. 2003). Taken together, these studies suggest that vitamin C lowers oxidative stress and is a prime candidate for anti-aging therapeutics.

Vitamin E AND Aging

Vitamin E is a strong lipid-soluble antioxidant found in the hydrophobic interior of cell membranes and circulating lipoproteins (Williams 2004). There are 8 isoforms of vitamin E (alpha-, beta-, gamma-, and delta-tocopherols and tocotrienols), which have varying degrees of bioavailability and biological activity (Cook-Mills and McCary 2010; Usoro and Mousa 2010). The active forms of vitamin E are tocopherols, especially α -tocopherol (Figure 1B) and γ -tocopherol. Alpha-tocopherol is a slightly more potent antioxidant, which has been found to significantly increase median lifespan in C57BL/6 mice (Banks et al. 2010; Cook-Mills and McCary 2010), while γ -tocopherol has superior detoxifying properties against reactive nitrogen species (RNS) (Jiang et al. 2001).

The presence of special tocopherol transfer protein (TTP) allows greater uptake and retention of α -tocopherols as compared to other tissues, suggesting an important role of vitamin E in the brain (Yokota et al. 2001b). Furthermore, Sumien et al. observed concentration of α -tocopherol increased by 50-60% in the cerebral cortex of C57BL/6 mice after vitamin E supplementation (Sumien et al. 2004). Behavioral and biochemical studies suggest that vitamin E can detoxify free radicals, reverse oxidative stress, and improve learning and memory (Gilgun-

Sherki et al. 2001; Sung et al. 2004). While high plasma vitamin E levels in humans has been associated with better cognitive performance in elderly, vitamin E deficiency in humans and animals leads to neurological deficits (Gilgun-Sherki et al. 2001).

Our group has previously shown that short-term vitamin E supplementation failed to reverse age-related impairments of cognitive or motor function or to reduce markers of lipid peroxidation in the cerebral cortex (Sumien et al. 2004). In contrast, recent studies in our lab have demonstrated that short-term vitamin E supplementation improved motor function of old mice and reduced protein oxidation (Shetty et al. 2014). It should be noted that isoforms of vitamin E used (natural and artificial) in the two studies were different, and could explain the differences in outcomes. Vitamin E can be obtained from natural sources or synthesized artificially. Natural vitamin E is derived from vegetable oils, and due to its molecular structure has biological activity of 100% in most mammals (Brigelius-Flohe and Traber 1999) (Figure 2b). Synthetic vitamin E is generally derived from petroleum products, while semi-synthetic vitamin E is extracted from plant sources. The bioavailability of synthetic forms varies considerably depending on the isoforms (Yang et al. 2009).

It is well documented that both vitamins E and C are powerful antioxidants and ROS scavengers, which are critical for proper brain functioning (Chatterjee et al. 1975; Harrison and May 2009; La Fata et al. 2014). Furthermore, concurrent treatment with multiple antioxidants has been found to be more effective in ameliorating body defense against ROS. For example: vitamin C recycles oxidized form of vitamin E back to reduced form, and therefore further enhancing the vitamin E's antioxidant power, when taken along with vitamin C (Kontush et al. 2001). Also, recent studies suggest that decrease in vitamin E and C concentrations has been linked to the cellular and functional dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients (Riviere et al. 1998). Besides,

vitamins E and C supplementation is capable of improving short-term memory, psychomotor performance, verbal memory, and overall mood in older individuals (Riviere et al. 1998; Lee et al. 2001; Arzi et al. 2004; Mazloom et al. 2013).

In contrast, a meta-analysis of 19 studies failed to show benefits of antioxidants intake on the risk of AD. However, smaller studies involving fewer participants showed beneficial effects. Similarly, Cache Country Study demonstrated that combination of vitamin E and vitamin C, but vitamin E, reduced risk of AD (Zandi et al. 2004). The effects of antioxidants in the clinical trials resulted in undesirable outcome. Several explanations have been proposed. For example; Lloret and colleagues suggested that the doses of antioxidants cannot be assumed to be universal and needs to be tailored according to antioxidant effect in each patient (Lloret et al. 2009). Other possibility is that antioxidants were administered at advanced ages, when neurons may have died or synapses may have been lost (Petersen et al. 2005). Previous studies also suggest that combination of antioxidants has more benefits as compared to monotherapy (Zandi et al. 2004). Furthermore, process of aging is complex and multifaceted. Therefore, lowering down of oxidative stress via antioxidants may not be sufficient to yield favorable benefits (Brewer 2010).

EXERCISE AND AGING

In the last two decades, research has recognized the importance of physical activity on the aging brain. Physical activity attenuates the memory and cognitive decline associated with normal aging and AD (Kramer et al. 2006; Ahlskog et al. 2011; Lautenschlager et al. 2012; Jak 2012).Furthermore, lifestyle modifications factors such as exercise are increasingly being recommended as an important strategy to counteract the deleterious effects of age on cognition (Warburton et al. 2006). It is believed that exercise-induced enhanced memory and long-term potentiation might be due to the increases the rate of neurogenesis within the dentate gyrus of the

hippocampus (van Praag et al. 1999; Brown et al. 2003; Pereira et al. 2007) and up-regulated expression of trophic factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Ma 2008; Costa et al. 2012). Interestingly, defective adult neurogenesis leads to impairment of working memory and learning (Ouchi et al. 2013). While, increased neurogenesis has been linked to better spatial memory performance of young rats in water maze (Uysal et al. 2005; Hotting and Roder 2013) and eight-arm radial maze (Anderson et al. 2000), Y-maze (Van der Borght et al. 2007), object recognition tasks (O'Callaghan et al. 2007).

In a 8-weeks study in rats, Leasure et al. found that voluntary wheel running involves running at high speed for short duration, and forced exercise involves a slower, and steady pace for longer periods of time. Also, anxiety levels were higher in forced exercise compared to voluntary exercise group (Leasure and Jones 2008a). Interestingly, both forms of exercise increased the number of surviving bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU)-positive cells in the dentate gyrus, but forced exercise ultimately produced more neurons than voluntary exercise (Leasure and Jones 2008a). Taken together, the differences mentioned above between the two forms of exercise might be responsible for their differential effects on brain and behavior.

Human and animal studies have suggested that, moderate exercise regimens causes adaptive changes in the redox-signaling pathway, and thus fortifies the endogenous antioxidant defense system against oxidative stress (Somani and Husain 1997; Somani and Husain 1997; Radak et al. 2001). Furthermore, moderate exercise prevents numerous chronic diseases (Blair et al. 1995; Myers et al. 2002; Navarro et al. 2004; Warburton et al. 2006; Ouchi et al. 2013) and increases life span and improved function of rats (Navarro et al. 2004) and humans (Myers et al. 2002). In humans, a meta-analysis involving 2020 subjects in 30 trials, found that exercise training improved the fitness, physical and cognitive function of demented elderly persons (Heyn et al. 2004). In addition, regular physical activity improves cardiorespiratory fitness, motor function, cognitive speed, auditory, and visual attention of healthy older adults (Angevaren et al. 2008).

AGING AND INFLAMATION

Aging in healthy individuals is characterized by increase in circulating levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Pedersen et al. 2000; Bruunsgaard and Pedersen 2003). Recent studies demonstrate the inflammatory response is mediated by the ROS-mediated activation of toll-like receptors on a variety of immune cells (Gill et al. 2010). Therefore, interventions such as antioxidants and exercise are believed to prevent oxidative stress and possibly reduce age-associated inflammation.

A recent study by Chen et al. showed that Vitamin C inhibited lipopolysaccharide-induced, TNF- α , and IL-6 in macrophages cells (Chen et al. 2014b). Similarly, supplementation with antioxidants (multivitamin, vitamins E or C, beta carotene) lowered the serum levels of inflammatory markers such as (IL)-6 and CRP of elderly men and women (Colbert et al. 2004). Furthermore, recent studies indicate that acute bout or strenuous exercise increases inflammatory activity (Moldoveanu et al. 2001),while, regular moderate exercise in young and old individuals leads to a reduced level of inflammatory markers such as (TNF)- α and CRP (Mattusch et al. 2000; Tsukui et al. 2000). Physical activity may reduce inflammation by its effect on adipose tissue, which is the source of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Coppack 2001).

GOALS OF CURRENT RESEARCH

The overall goal of the proposed study is to evaluate the interactive nature of two-anti-aging interventions to protect against the negative functional outcomes of aging, and identify the underlying mechanism responsible for these improvements.

Data from recent studies have shown that antioxidant supplements and moderate exercise, when implemented independently appear to improve age-impaired cognitive and psychomotor performance by acting through similar mechanisms such as reduction of oxidative stress (Agus et al. 1997; Anderson et al. 2000; Young and Woodside 2001; Warburton et al. 2006; Angevaren et al. 2008; Leasure and Jones 2008b; Bowman et al. 2009b; Banks et al. 2010; Aguiar et al. 2011; Ahlskog et al. 2011). Therefore, it can be hypothesized that combining antioxidant with exercise training, a therapeutic approach employed by many health conscious individuals and recommended by healthcare professionals, will lead to an additive beneficial effect, (Devi and Kiran 2004; Jolitha et al. 2006; Cetin et al. 2010).

However, the nature of the interaction of the antioxidant supplementation and exercise has not been well established. Moreover, data from recent studies have revealed that antioxidant supplementation may interfere with exercise-induced cell signaling and consequently have an antagonistic action on the beneficial effects of exercise (Ristow et al. 2009; Paulsen et al. 2014). In a recent study, Paulsen and colleagues investigated the effects of vitamin E (235 mg/day) and C (1000 mg/day) supplementation for 11 weeks on endurance training adaptations in skeletal muscles of fifty-four young men and women (Paulsen et al. 2014). High dosages of vitamin E and C hampered the exercise-induced adaptive upregulation of mitochondrial biogenesis markers including cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV (COX4) and cytosolic peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α). Furthermore, vitamin C prevented exerciseinduced adaptive increase in markers of mitochondrial biogenesis such as cytochrome C and antioxidant enzymes (Gomez-Cabrera et al. 2008). Ristow and colleagues found that 4 weeks of vitamin C (1000 mg/day) and vitamin E (400 IU/day) supplementation antioxidant (1000 mg/day) supplements may prevent the health-promoting effects of exercise on type 2 diabetes mellitus, by blocking the exercise-induced molecular regulators of insulin sensitivity and endogenous antioxidant defense (Ristow et al. 2009). In another study involving six mildly hypertensive older men (71+/-2 years), oral antioxidants (vitamins C and E, and alpha-lipoic acid) blunted the beneficial effects of exercise on hypertension and exercise-induced vasodilation (Wray et al. 2009).

In addition to these studies, few studies failed to report any negative interaction between antioxidants and exercise interventions. Moderate exercise combined with dietary vitamins C and E, reduced ROS and blood glucose levels in the kidney and lens of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Kutlu et al. 2005). Supplementation with vitamins C and E reversed the exhaustive exercise-induced oxidative damage and improved cognitive function young male mice (Rosa et al. 2007). In another study involving 11 men and 11 women ultramarathon runners, 6 weeks of supplementation with vitamins E (300 mg) and C (1000 mg) could prevent exercise-induced lipid peroxidation, but had no effect on inflammatory markers (Mastaloudis et al. 2004). Similarly, antioxidant supplementation had no effect on the exercise-induced lipid peroxidation and muscular damage induced by exhaustive such as strenuous bicycle or marathon exercise training (Kaikkonen et al. 1998; Yfanti et al. 2010)

Taken together, studies mentioned above indicate that there is a definite interaction between exercise and antioxidant supplementation, however the nature of such interaction seems dependent on context such as type of exercise, or age of subject/animals. Furthermore, only a few studies have looked at this interaction in relation to brain aging. The present study was designed to characterize the nature of the interaction between antioxidant supplementation and exercise on brain dysfunction associated with aging. The goals of the current study were 1) to determine whether antioxidant intake and exercise training led to beneficial improvements in young and old C57BL/6J mice 2) to determine whether the combination of antioxidant and exercise yield an additive beneficial effect; and lastly 3) to determine whether the beneficial outcomes are age-dependent.

The overall hypothesis of this study is that combination of antioxidants with exercise will maximally reverse age-related psychomotor and cognitive dysfunction.

Figure 1: Life expectancy at birth by region, 1960-2045

Each value represents life expectancy in years across Asia, Africa, Developed countries, Latin America and Caribbean, and the World. (United Nations World population prospects, 2008)



Life Expectancy at Birth by Region, 1950-2050.

Figure 2: Structures of (A) vitamin C and (B and C) vitamin E (Yamamoto et al. 2001)

(http://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov)







Marine-derived tocopherol (MDT)

Table 1: Classification and brief description of main theories of aging (Weinert and Timiras 2003)

Biological Level/Theory	Description
Evolutionary	
Mutation accumulation	Mutations that affect health at older ages are not selected against.
Disposable soma	Somatic cells are maintained only to ensure continued reproductive success; after reproduction, soma becomes disposable.
Antagonistic pleiotropy	Genes beneficial at younger age become deleterious at older ages.
Molecular	
Gene regulation	Aging is caused by changes in the expression of genes regulating both development and aging.
Codon restriction	Fidelity/accuracy of mRNA translation is impaired due to inability to decode codons in mRNA.
Error catastrophe	Decline in fidelity of gene expression with aging results in increased fraction of abnormal proteins.
Somatic mutation	Molecular damage accumulates, primarily to DNA/genetic material.
Dysdifferentiation	Gradual accumulation of random molecular damage impairs regulation of gene expression.
Cellular	
Cellular senescence- Telomere theory	Phenotypes of aging are caused by an increase in frequency of senescent cells. Senescence may result from telomere loss (replicative senescence) or cell stress (cellular senescence).
Free radical	Oxidative metabolism produces highly reactive free radicals that subsequently damage lipids, protein and DNA.
Wear-and-tear	Accumulation of normal injury.
Apoptosis	Programmed cell death from genetic events or genome crisis.
System	
Neuroendocrine	Alterations in neuroendocrine control of homeostasis results in aging- related physiological changes.
Immunologic	Decline of immune function with aging results in decreased incidence of infectious diseases but increased incidence of autoimmunity.
Rate-of-living	Assumes a fixed amount of metabolic potential for every living organism (live fast, die young)
CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

ANIMALS

All animal protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at UNT Health Science Center at Fort Worth. A total of 82 4 months old and 83 20 months old male C57BL/6J mice were obtained from the National Institute on Aging, aged rodent colony and subsequently maintained in the UNT Health Science Center vivarium. The mice were housed in groups of 3 or 4 in standard polycarbonate cages ($28 \times 17 \times 12.5$ cm) with corncob bedding and ad libitum access to food and water, and were maintained at ambient temperature (23 ± 1 °C), under a 12-h light/dark cycle starting at 0600 hours. The mice were weighed weekly, and survival was monitored throughout the study. The mice were acclimated for a 1-week period, following which they were randomly assigned to one of the diets (control or antioxidant supplemented), and one of the exercise treatment (sedentary or exercised).

TREATMENT

Diets. The mice were fed either a control diet (LabDiet® R&M 5LG6 4F, cat #: 5S84) or the control diet supplemented with vitamins E and C (modified 5LG6 with 1.65 mg/g diet of ascorbate and 1.12 IU/g diet of α -tocopheryl acetate, cat#: 5SH0). The daily doses of ascorbic acid and α -tocopherol received were ~164 mg/kg/day and ~242 IU/kg/day respectively, and this was based on the calculations of body weight and the average food intake of a mouse.

Exercise. The mice also followed a sedentary regimen or a moderate force exercise regimen. The moderate exercise regimen, using treadmills (AccuPacer Treadmill; Omnitech Electronics Inc., Columbus, OH, USA), was introduced progressively over a 12-day period. The training was gradually incremented in time and speed to reach a maximal exercise of 1 h (6, 8, 10, and 12 m/min for 5 min each, and then at 14 m/min for 40 min). The training protocol used was a modification of previously published exercise protocols (Chaudhari et al. 2014). Forced exercise

was implemented via transient 0.29 mA electric foot shock to the feet. Each exercise mouse was paired with a sedentary mouse which received the same number of shock for each training day.

The mice were randomly assigned to one of four experimental groups: (1) sedentary fed the control diet (SedCon), (2) sedentary fed the vitamins E and C supplemented diet (SedEC), (3) forced exercise fed the control diet (ExCon), (4) forced exercise fed the vitamins E and C supplemented diet (ExEC).

The mice were on their respective treatments for 8 weeks prior to and throughout behavioral assessments for a total of 16 weeks. At 6 months of age for young and at 22 months for adult, the mice received a series of behavioral tests for cognitive, affective or psychomotor functions. Subsequently, mice were euthanized and brain regions prepared for measurement of glutathione (GSH, GSSG), and catalase activity

FOOD INTAKE

Food intake was monitored twice during the course of the study: the week prior to the start of the behavioral testing and the week after the completion of the behavioral testing. The food intake measurements were done over 5 consecutive days, at the same time each day to control for any diurnal variations. The amount of food consumed was normalized to the number of mice in each cage to estimate individual food intake.

FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENT OF MICE

The behavioral studies evaluated the effect of treatments on brain functions. The behavior test battery has been well established and extensively in our laboratory in different studies in a variety of mouse strains and under various experimental conditions. Each of the protocols addresses cognitive, sensory or psychomotor functions that can readily be studied in human subjects. Administration of the complete test battery requires approximately 8 weeks. The behavioral assessments were performed one at a time in the following order; elevated plus maze, spontaneous activity, coordination, walk initiation, alley turn, wire suspension, bridge walking, , water maze, discriminative avaoidance and tail suspension test Unlike previous studies, cognitive tests were focused on hippocampal function (Morris Water Maze: spatial discrimination) with visible platform being tested after to avoid confounding effect on the water maze, and cortical function (active avoidance: T-maze), allowing us to study two different domains. The complete battery of behavioral tests to be used in this project has been detailed in several publications from our group (Table 1; (Sumien et al. 2006; Shetty et al. 2013a; Chaudhari et al. 2014).

Locomotor activity

Each mouse was placed in a clear acrylic chamber $(40.5 \times 40.5 \times 30.5 \text{ cm})$ that was surrounded by a metal frame lined with photocells (Model 71-CPPX, Omnitech Electronics). The test chamber was enclosed in a dimly lit $(31.8 \pm 1.5 \text{ lux})$, sound-attenuating chamber (Model 71-ECC, Omnitech Electronics) equipped with a fan that provided background noise (64dB). During a 16-min period, movements in the horizontal plane as well as a vertical plane 7.6 cm above the floor were detected by the photocells and processed by software (Fusion v. 5.3) to yield variables describing horizontal, vertical, and spatial components of spontaneous activity in the apparatus.

Motor learning

The apparatus was a motor-driven rotorod (Omnitech Electronics, Model # AIO411RRT525M) that consisted of a 3-cm diameter nylon cylinder mounted horizontally at a height of 35 cm above a padded surface. On each trial, the mouse was placed on the cylinder,

which then began rotating with increasing speed (0.5 revolutions per minute) until the animal fell to the padded surface. The ability of the mice to improve running performance was assessed in a series of training sessions (two per day), each consisting of four trials at 10-min intervals. The training sessions continued until the running performance (the average latency to fall from the cylinder) failed to show improvement over three consecutive sessions, which represented each mouse's maximum stable level of performance. The average latency to fall was averaged for each session and on the last session for each mouse.

Simple reflexes

Walk initiation. Each mouse was placed on a flat surface and the latency to move one body length was recorded.

Alley turning. Each mouse was placed head first in a 3.5-cm wide, 14-cm long, dead-end alley and the latency to reverse direction was recorded. Each test lasted a maximum of 60 s and was administered once over four consecutive daily sessions, and the data are presented as the averaged latency from the 4 sessions.

Wire suspension

This test was administered twice each day over four consecutive days. For each trial, the mouse was allowed to grip a horizontal wire with its front paws when suspended 27 cm above a padded surface. Each trial lasted a maximum of 60 s and the latency to tread (reflexive grasping of the wire with the hind legs) and the latency to fall were recorded and averaged.

Bridge walking

This test was administered three times each day over four consecutive days. For each trial, the mouse was placed in the middle of bridge suspended between two platforms 50 cm above a

padded surface. Each day the bridge was different in diameter (small or large) and shape (round or square), providing four levels of difficulty. Each trial lasted a maximum of 60 s, and the latency to fall from the bridge was measured and averaged over the four days.

Morris water maze (MWM)

Spatial learning and memory were measured using an MWM test modified from described previously (55). On a given trial, the mouse was allowed to swim in a tank filled with opacified water and maintained at 24 ± 1 °C. The mice were able to escape the water by means of a hidden platform (1.5 cm below the surface of the water). A computerized tracking system recorded various measures such as path length and swimming speed (Any-maze; Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, IL, USA).

The test consisted of four phases: (1) *pre-training phase*: the tank was covered by a black curtain to hide surrounding visual cues. The mice learned the components of swimming and climbing onto a platform using a straight alley that had a platform at one end. The mice were allowed to swim until they reached the platform or a maximum of 60 s had elapsed. The mice received two sessions (Friday and Monday) consisting of five trials with an inter-trial interval of 5 min; (2) *acquisition phase*: the black curtain was removed and the mice were tested for their ability to locate a hidden platform using spatial cues around the room. Each daily session consisted of five trials, at 2-min intervals, during which the mouse had to swim to the platform from one of four different starting points in the tank. The mice were allowed to swim until they reached the platform or a maximum of 90 s had elapsed. Testing was conducted over nine sessions (Tuesday-Friday and Monday–Friday). On sessions 2, 4, 5, 7, and 9, a probe trial was conducted as the fifth trial during which the platform was raised after 30 s, and the trial was ended when the mouse successfully

located it; (3) *retention phase*: one 60-s probe trial session was conducted 1 week after the ninth session of the previous phase (only the first 30-s were used for analyses to match the other probe trials); (4) *visible platform phase*: the mice were given a total of eight sessions (2/day separated by 2 h), each consisting of five trials with a 10-min inter-trial interval. The platform was identified by a triangular flag (with a large red dot in the middle of it for contrast) that was raised above the surface of the water. On each trial the mouse had to swim to the platform from a different starting point and the platform was moved to a different location before each trial. Thus, the mouse had to learn to associate the location of the flag with location of the platform. Only the final session (session 8) was considered for analyses of visual function, rather than learning.

Path length (distance taken to reach the platform) over sessions was used as the primary measure of performance. The path-independent swim speed was calculated by dividing distance by the latency to reach the platform. On probe trial, spatial bias for the platform location was evaluated in terms of the percentage of time spent within a 40-cm diameter annulus surrounding the platform location.

Discriminated avoidance

A T-maze constructed of acrylic (black for the sides and clear for the top) was utilized for the discriminated avoidance task. The maze was divided into three compartments: a start box (10 \times 6.3 \times 6 cm), a stem (17.5 \times 6.3 \times 6 cm), and two goal arms (14.5 \times 6.3 \times 6 cm), each separated by clear acrylic doors. The maze rested on a grid floor wired to deliver 0.69-mA scrambled shock to the feet.

The test consisted of three sessions separated by 1 h. On each training trial, the mouse was placed in the start box, and the start door was removed to signal the beginning of the trial. On the

first trial of the first session (information trial), the mouse received shock in the first arm entered (preference arm) and was permitted to escape shock by running to the opposite arm, which was then designated the correct arm for the remainder of the session. On subsequent trials, shock was initiated 5 s after the opening of the start door if the mouse had not entered the correct goal arm or immediately upon entry into the incorrect arm. In either case, the shock continued until the correct goal arm was entered or a maximum of 60 s had elapsed. Upon the mouse's entry into the correct arm, the door was closed (to prevent departure), and, after 10 s, the mouse was removed (by detaching the goal arm) and allowed to enter a holding cage for 1 min. Training in this fashion continued at 1-min intervals until the mouse had met the criterion of a correct avoidance (defined as running directly to the correct arm within 5 s) on four of the last five training trials of which the last two must be within 5 s. The second and third sessions of avoidance training were reversals such that the mice were required to run to the goal arm opposite that to which they had been trained on the previous session. Their ability to learn the discrimination component of the task was considered inversely proportional to the number of trials required to reach the avoidance criterion aforementioned (4 out 5 correct turns regardless of the time taken).

Tail suspension test

The test procedure described by Steru et al. was used to test depressive behavior with slight modifications (Steru et al. 1985). The method is based on the observation that a mouse suspended by its tail shows alternate period of activity and immobility (activity reflects efforts to correct the posture, and immobility reflects despair and lack of hope). Mice were suspended from their tails at a height of 20 cm using a piece of adhesive tape wrapped around the tail 2 cm from the tip. A mouse was considered to be immobile when it was suspended passively and completely motionless

and mice that climbed their tails were excluded from the data. Recordings were carried out for a total period of 6 min and treatment groups were compared with age-matched control groups.

Preparation of tissue homogenates

Mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation and each mouse brain was dissected into six regions: cerebral cortex, cerebellum, midbrain, brain stem, striatum, and hippocampus, and frozen at -80°C until further assessments. Each brain region was homogenized in phosphate buffer (50 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.0, containing 1mM EDTA) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN) and 0.1% Triton-X 100 or as recommended by the kit manufacturer. Homogenates were spun at 10,000 x g for 15 min; the pellets were discarded and the supernatant was used. The blood was collected by making a small cut at the base of the tail using scalpel blade. Plasma was separated from blood by spinning at 2500g for 10 minutes.

Oxidative stress markers

<u>Catalase activity</u> was determined by utilizing Catalase Assay Kit (Cayman Chemical Company Ann Arbor, MI 48108) that utilizes the peroxidatic function of catalase for the determination of enzyme activity. The method is based on the reaction of the enzyme with methanol in the presence of an optimal concentration of hydrogen peroxide. The formaldehyde produced is measured colorimetrically with 4-amino-3-hydrazino-5-mercapto-1,2,4-triazole (purpald) as the chromogen. Purpald specifically forms a bicyclic heterocycle with aldehydes, which upon oxidation changes its color from colorless to purple (540 nm). Catalase activity was calculated using the formula:

Formaldehyde conc. of the sample (
$$\mu$$
M) = $\left(\frac{\text{Sample Absorbance} - (\text{y-intercept})}{\text{Slope}}\right) \times \frac{0.017 \text{ ml}}{0.02 \text{ ml}}$

Catalase activity =
$$\frac{\mu M \text{ of sample}}{20}$$
 x sample dilution = nmol/min/ml

<u>GSH/GSSG ratio</u> in the brain of mice was determined by utilizing Glutathione Assay Kit by Cayman. This assay kit utilizes a carefully optimized enzymatic recycling method for the quantification of glutathione. Glutathione reductase (GR) reduces oxidized glutathione (GSSG) to reduced glutathione (GSH). GSH is easily oxidized to the disulfide dimer GSSG. The sulfhydryl group of GSH reacts with DTNB (5,5'-dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid, Ellman's reagent) to produce a yellow colored 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoic acid (TNB) that absorbs at 414 nm. The rate of TNB production is directly proportional to the concentration of glutathione in the sample. The measurement of the absorbance of TNB at 414 nm provides an accurate estimation of glutathione in the sample.

Protein Assay

All protein concentrations were determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) Protein Assay Kit from Pierce Biotechnology (Rockford, IL) with bovine serum albumin as a standard. The BCA Protein Assay is based on the mechanism that proteins convert Cu2+ to Cu1+ in an alkaline medium with the highly sensitive and selective colorimetric detection of the cuprous cation (Cu1+) by bicinchoninic acid. In the first step, also known as biuret reaction the protein chelates the copper to form a light blue complex in alkaline medium. In the second step BCA reacts with the reduced (cuprous) cation that was formed in step one to form a purple colored reaction product which can be detected spectrophotometrically at 562 nm.

Plasma inflammatory markers

Inflammatory markers, IL-6, and TNF- α , were measured using a V-Plex Proinflammatory Panel 1 (mouse) Kit (K15048D-2; Meso Scale Discovery) according to manufacturer's instructions. The manufacturer's range of detection for each analyte is 0.40–3140 pg/ml.

Proinflammatory markers were measured using special sandwich immunoassays that utilized electrochemiluminescence as the basis for detection. The sample was added to pre-coated plates with capture antibodies along with solution containing detection antibodies conjugated to electrochemiluminescent labels, which emitted light when voltage was applied through electrodes. Lastly, a detection buffer was added to provide an optimum environment and the light signal was quantified by using charge-coupled device.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Functional performance of the mice on the behavioral tests and biochemical measures were subjected to two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA), with Age and Treatment as between-groups factors. Planned individual comparisons between different age and treatment groups were performed using single degree-of-freedom F tests involving the error term from the overall ANOVA. Weights, water maze, and coordinated running data were subjected to three-way analyses with Session or Time as the repeated measure. The α -level was set at 0.05 for all analyses. The software used for the analyses was Systat 13 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA

Table: Summary of behavioral test battery

Test description	Capacity or deficit measured	Primary anatomical target of test
Sensorv/Reflexive		
Alley turning	Reflexive, motor planning	Cortical orienting circuitry; dorsomedial
(-) geotaxis	Reflexive, arousal	frontal cortical
Locomotor/affective		
Initiation latency	Arousal	Various; striatum; brainstem/midbrain
Horizontal	Ambulation, arousal	arousal circuitry; limbic reward circuitry
Vertical	Rearing, arousal	
Spatial analysis	Anxiety/fear level	Limbic system
Tail Suspension Test	Depression	
Psychomotor		
Wire suspension	Muscle strength, coordination	Skeletal muscle, reflex circuitry
Grip strength	Fore-hindlimb muscle strength	Skeletal muscle
Bridge walking	Balance, coordination	Cerebellum, striatum
Rotorod	Coordination, motor learning	Striatum, cerebellum, premotor cortex
Swim speed	Coordination, motor learning	Striatum, premotor cortex
Cognitive		
Spatial water maze	Visual/spatial discrimination, explicit	Hippocampus, frontal cortex
	reference learning/memory; executive	
	function/planning	
Discrimination	Associative learning (conditioned fear),	Frontal cortex, limbic system
reversal	cognitive flexibility	

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Body weight and food intake

Weekly body weights were recorded throughout the duration of the study and are presented in Fig.1A. Overall, the old mice weighed more than the young mice throughout the study. The sedentary young mice gained ~5-7% weight in 16 weeks, while the exercised young mice exhibited a stable weight throughout the study. In the old group, weights were decreased as a function of weeks, even more so in the treated mice (~9-13%) than in the SedCon ones (~2%). A repeated measure ANOVA revealed a significant interaction of Weeks, Age, and Treatment (P < 0.001) supporting the aforementioned observations. Survivorship was also followed: 1 young mouse died (ExEC group), and 7 old mice (1 from ExCon, and 2 from each of the other groups) died at various times throughout the study.

Food intake was measured before and after behavioral testing and is presented in Fig. 1B. Overall, the old mice ate more than the young ones at both time points. Effects of treatments were only observed after behavioral testing, with the 20-months SedEC group eating 26% less food than the age-matched SedCon group. Separate ANOVAs on the before and after food intake revealed significant main effects of Age (P < 0.05), but no effect of Treatment or interaction between Age and Treatment (All Ps > 0.219).

Locomotor activity

Three measures were selected in the analyses of spontaneous activity: distance travelled (Figure 2A), vertical activity also called rearing (Figure 2B), and time spent in the center of the testing apparatus (Figure 2C). The old mice travelled 19% less distance and reared 30% less than their young counterparts. These observations were supported by main effects of Age for each measure (all Ps < 0.018). While a main effect of Age was also found for center time (P < 0.05), there was no difference within the control groups (P=0.384) and the main effect was driven by age

differences within the SedEC and ExEC groups (all Ps <0.031). Treatments did not affect the distance of traveled of either young or old, as supported by a lack of main effect of Treatment or an interaction with Age (all Ps > 0.385). Treatments, ExCon and ExEC, decreased rearing and increased time spent in the center in young mice, but had no effect in the old ones. Two-way ANOVAs revealed main effects of Treatment for both measures (all Ps < 0.001), and an interaction between Age and Treatment for vertical activity (P <0.001).

Motor learning

The effects of age and treatment on the ability of the mice to learn a motor task are presented in Figure 3. Across sessions, the mice learned to remain on the rotating rod, as evidenced by increased latencies to fall and supported by a main effect of Session as repeated measure (P< 0.001). Overall, the older mice had shorter latencies than the young mice, and treatments had minor effects. In young mice, only the ExEC group exhibited higher latencies than the old ones, while in the old mice, ExCon and ExEC both had higher latencies. A two-way ANOVA indicated a significant effect of Age and Treatment, but no interaction between Age and Treatment (all $P_S > 0.05$), and no interaction of Age or Treatment with Sessions (all $P_S > 0.072$).

Reflexive and motor performance

Measures of simple reflexes are shown in Figure 4. Old mice took longer latencies to initiate walking (Figure 4A) and to turn in a dead-end alley (Figure 4B), 65% and 42% respectively. Treatments had an effect in old mice for walk initiation test and in both age groups for alley turning. Old ExCon and ExEC mice took 31% and 40% shorter latencies to initiate walking than the age-matched control mice. Furthermore, ExCon and ExEC mice took ~38% (young group) and 32% (old group) shorter latencies to turn than the age-matched control mice.

Two-way ANOVAs on each measure revealed significant main effects of Age and Treatment (all Ps < 0.001) but no interaction between Age and Treatment (all Ps > 0.156).

Performance on the wire suspension test, measured as latencies to tread and to fall is presented in Figure 5. Once suspended from the wire, the old SedCon mice took 27% longer latency to tread and 20% longer latency to fall. Overall, the treatments had no effect on treading or falling from the wire with the exception of the young ExCon mice taking slightly longer latencies to fall. Two-way ANOVAs on each measure indicated significant main effects of Age (all Ps < 0.05), but no effect of treatment or interaction between Treatment and Age (all Ps > 0.077).

Performance on the bridge test measured as the average latency to fall from 4 different bridges over 4 sessions is depicted in Figure 6. Old SedCon mice took 22% shorter latency to fall from the bridge compared to the young SedCon ones. Overall the treatment had no effect on bridge performance, with the exception of the ExCon group exhibiting higher latencies than the SedCon within the old groups. A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Age (P <0.001), but no effect of Treatment or an interaction with Age and Treatment (all Ps > 0.222).

Spatial learning and memory

The length of the path taken to locate the hidden platform and the speed to reach the platform are depicted in Figure 7 as measures of efficiency. All mice learned to locate the platform after sufficient training as evidenced by shorter path lengths taken as the number of training session increased (Figure 7A). The effect of testing session was confirmed by a three-way analysis with Session as repeated measure (P < 0.001). Overall, old mice took longer path length than the young ones, as evidenced by a significant main effect of Age (P < 0.001). While there was no overall effect of treatment (P = 0.898), the ExCon and ExEC groups took shorter path length during

sessions 1 and 2 than the controls in both age groups. This observation was supported by a significant interaction between Session and Treatment (P = 0.041). Speed was not affected by either Age or Treatment (All Ps > 0.068; Figure 7B). A test for visual acuity was then run to determine whether vision impacted the performance of the mice on the spatial learning and memory task (last session, VP; Figure 7A and B). There was no effect of age or treatment on the performance (path length) of the mice on the visual task, confirmed by two-way ANOVA (all Ps > 0.48). The speed of the ExCon mice was faster on the last session than the other groups, leading to a main effect of Treatment (P = 0.039).

Accuracy for spatial memory was measured by conducting a probe trial as the last trial of sessions 2, 4, 5, 7, and 9, as measured by the percentage of time a mouse spent in a 40-cm annulus around the platform location (Figure 8). Both young and old mice tested developed a strong bias for the platform location as the time spent in the 40cm area increased over training session. This observation was supported by a main effect of Session using a three-way ANOVA with Session as repeated measure (P < 0.001). Overall, the young mice spent more time in the 40-cm area compared to the old mice. While effects of treatment were minor, it was noticeable that the young ExEC mice spent more time in the 40-cm area than any of the other groups. This observation was reflected with an interaction of Session and Treatment (P = 0.015) following a three-way ANOVA with Session as repeated measure. On session 10, which was a probe trial one week after the last session, there was no effect of age or treatment, supported by lack of main effects or interaction after a two-way ANOVA (all Ps > 0.126).

Discriminated avoidance test

The number of trials to reach the discriminated avoidance criterion during acquisition and subsequent reversal sessions as a function of age and treatment is presented in Figure 9. There

was no age effect in any of the sessions, though all mice performed better as a function of session as evidenced by a decreased in the number of trials taken to reach criterion.

During the acquisition session, there was no effect of age however the treatments had an effect on the performance of the mice. The ExCon and ExEC mice took 16-26% (4 months) and 10-16% (20 months) fewer trials to reach criterion, when compared with age-matched controls. Analysis of the trials to the discriminative component for session 1 did not reveal a significant effect of age or interaction between age and Treatment (all Ps > 0.684), but supported a main effect of treatment (P = 0.001).

During reversal 1, all treatment groups took fewer trials than the SedCon in the young group (18-25%), while the SedEC mice took more trials than the SedCon (30%) in the old group. This outcome was supported by a two-way ANOVA yielding a significant interaction between Age and Treatment (P = 0.019). During the reversal 2 session, there was no effect of age or treatment (all Ps > 0.491)

Tail Suspension test

Performance on the tail suspension test, as measured by immobility is presented in Figure 10. There was no effect of age on the performance of the mice, but there were effects of treatments. While it seems that all treatment decreased immobility time, only the difference with SedEC (25%) in the young reached significance (P < 0.05). These observations were supported by a lack of a main effect of Age or interaction between Age and Treatment, and a main effect of Treatment (P = 0.022).

Oxidative stress markers

Catalase activity was measured in 6 brain regions and is presented in Figure 11. There was no effect of age or treatment in any of the regions in either age group, with the exception of an

increased activity in the hindbrain of young ExEC mice. These observations were supported by a lack of main effect or interaction between Age and Treatment following a two-way ANOVA (all Ps > 0.05).

The ratio of GSH to GSSG was calculated and is presented in Figure 12. There was no effect of age or treatment in any of the regions in either age group. These observations were supported by a lack of main effect or interaction between Age and Treatment following a two-way ANOVA (all Ps > 0.05).

Inflammatory markers

Concentrations of IL-6 and TNF- α were measured in the plasma and are presented in Figure 13. Overall, the levels of IL-6 and TNF- α were increased with age and treatments had little to no effect. This was supported by a two-way ANOVA yielding a main effect of Age for both measures (all Ps < 0.011), and no main effect of Treatment or an interaction between Age and Treatment (all Ps > 0.316).

FIGURES AND LEGENDS

Figure 1: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on body weight (A) and food intake (B) in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=19-21 for body weights and n=2-7 for food intake. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C. # *p*<0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon; **p*<0.05 compared to young treatment-matched mice.



Figure 2: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant regimen on locomotor activity as measured by total distance travelled (A), rearing activity (B), and time spent in the center (C) in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=15-18. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C. # *p*<0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon; **p*<0.05 compared to young treatment-matched mice.



Figure 3: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on motor learning in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=20-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.



Figure 4: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on musculoskeletal reflexive responses as measured by latency to initiate walking (A) and to turn in a dead-end alley (B) in 4- and 20-months C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=20-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

p < 0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon; * p < 0.05 compared to young treatment-matched mice



Figure 5: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on performance on wire suspension test as measured by latency to tread (A) and to fall (B) in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=20-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

p < 0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon; * p < 0.05 compared to young treatment-matched mice



Figure 6: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on performance on bridge test in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=20-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

p < 0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon; * p < 0.05 compared to young treatment-matched mice



Figure 7: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on Morris water maze performance as measured by path length (A) and swimming speed (B) in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=19-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.



Figure 8: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on Morris water maze probe trial performance as measured by percent time spent in a 40-cm annulus in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=19-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C. The dotted line represents the percent time a mouse would be in the 40-cm annulus due to chance.


Figure 9: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on discriminated avoidance performance, measure by the number of trials taken to reach criterion during acquisition session and 2 reversal sessions in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=17-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

p < 0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon; *p < 0.05 compared to young mice



ExEC

Figure 10: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on suspension test performance, measure by immobility time in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=17-21. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

p < 0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon.



Figure 11: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on catalase activity in 6 brain regions in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=6-7. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

p < 0.05 compared to age-matched SedCon.



Figure 12: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on GSH/GSSG ratio in 6 brain regions in 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=3-6. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC, sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.



Figure 13: Effect of exercise and/or antioxidant supplementation on inflammatory markers in the plasma of 4 and 20-months old C57BL/6J male mice.

Each value represents mean \pm SEM, n=3-6. SedCon, sedentary fed the control diet; SedEC,

sedentary fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C; ExCon, exercise fed the control

diet and ExEC; exercise fed the control diet enriched with vitamins E and C.

*p<0.05 compared to young treatment-matched mice



CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

This study confirmed the existence of robust age impairments in several aspects of reflexive, motor and cognitive functions. Antioxidant supplementation did not reverse any agerelated dysfunction, rather worsened cognitive flexibility of old mice. Interestingly, antioxidant supplementation decreased depression-like behavior in young mice. Moderate exercise was more successful in improving motor and cognitive function, and some improvements were age-specific. Most importantly, the combination of exercise and antioxidant did not yield additional beneficial effects. Noteworthy, no negative interaction between the two treatments was observed.

Short-term treatment with antioxidants and exercise for 16 weeks in mice, which translates to approximately 15-20 years in humans. The present study suggests that regular antioxidants and exercise for number of years is essential for improvements in brain function at an advanced age.

The young mice gained weight during the period of the study whereas the old group lost weight. These results are in accordance with previous findings for C57BL/6 mice (Sumien et al. 2004; Sumien et al. 2009; Baynard et al. 2012). The present data suggests that, exercise training did not affect weight gain in young mice or weight loss in old mice, validating that the intensity of exercise form was indeed moderate. Similarly, animal and human studies have revealed that moderate intensity exercise alone does not lead to weight loss(Caudwell et al. 2009; Baynard et al. 2012). While a voluntary exercise paradigm may seem more appealing than a forced regimen, it is noteworthy that voluntary wheel running involves higher exercise speed and duration (Leasure and Jones 2008a). Moreover, forced exercise paradigm unlike voluntary wheel running does not lead to caloric deficit resulting in weight loss (Bell et al. 1995; Baynard et al. 2012).

Interestingly, the food intake in the exercise group did not increase even though the mice had ad libitum supply of food throughout this study. Our findings align with previous studies that utilized moderate exercise paradigm compared to strenuous exercise which generally lead to weight loss and a corresponding increase in food intake (Bell et al. 1995; Mainardi et al. 2010; Baynard et al. 2012). Interestingly, in the present study vitamin E and C supplementation was associated with a significant decrease in food intake in old mice. In contrast, in a previous study antioxidant intake lead to higher food intake in middle-aged Apolipoprotein E (*APOE*)-3; suggesting strain differences (unpublished data). However, food intake was done within group housing setting and may explain some of the discrepancy between food intake and also lessen the power of the studies by having less measurements (1 per cage instead of 1 per mouse).

Antioxidant supplementation is one of the most popular strategies used to attenuate ageassociated functional deficits (Kaikkonen et al. 1998; Shukitt-Hale et al. 1999; Fusco et al. 2007). Based on the human: mouse body surface area ratio of 12.3, the human dose equivalent of vitamins used in the present study correspond to 800 IU of Vitamin E and 1,150 mg of Vitamin C (Reagan-Shaw et al. 2008). The doses of vitamin E and C in the present study were selected on the basis of preliminary studies conducted in our laboratory, that demonstrated a reversal of age-related functional impairments in old mice (unpublished data). Furthermore, doses used in the present study have been widely tested in clinical studies, and are significantly higher than the current recommended dietary allowance (RDA) of vitamin C (60 mg/d of for adult nonsmoking men and women), and vitamin E (22.4 IU/day) ((Martin et al. 2002; Cetin et al. 2010; Li et al. 2012)NIH fact sheet, Office of Dietary Supplements 2013). Previous study in our lab found that concentrations of α -tocopherol following supplementation with this test diet were increased 3-5 fold in plasma and tissue homogenates in old C57BL6 mice after 13 weeks of dietary supplementation (Sumien et al. 2003, 2004). The present study did not measure the levels of vitamin C in C57BL6 mice following vitamin C supplementation. In humans, oral high doses vitamin C shows lower bioavailability and saturates plasma and tissue (Levine et al. 1996). In alignment with previous studies, the present study demonstrates an age-associated decline in the psychomotor and cognitive function measured by standard tests of psychomotor functions such as balance (bridge-walking), coordinated running (rotorod), muscle strength (wire suspension), reflexive ability (walk initiation and alley turn), and spatial memory (water maze)(Sumien et al. 2004; Sumien et al. 2006; Shetty et al. 2013b). However, the present study did not observe significant effect of age on learning and cognitive flexibility measured during the discriminated avoidance task. It is important to note that when tested on the discriminated avoidance, the mice were older (8 and 24 months vs. 4 and 20 when the study was initiated). Previous studies have shown that some memory deficits can occur early, and that at 8 months of age the mice are already impaired (Shukitt-Hale et al. 1999; Sumien et al. 2004; McDonald and Forster 2005).

Furthermore, human and animal studies suggest an increase in prevalence of depression with aging (Beekman et al. 1999). However, the present study failed to observe an effect of age on the tail suspension test. Similar to our findings, Malatynska et al. found that aged C57BL/6 mice exhibit hedonic deficits similar to depressed elderly humans, but had relatively intact affective behaviors, measured by forced swim and tail suspension test. Also, aging did not affect the immobility time of 15 months old CC57Br, A/He and C3H/He but lead to increase in floating time of 20- to 24-month-old BALB/c mice treated with lipopolysaccharide in forced swim test, suggesting strain differences (Skrinskaia and Nikulina 1994). Compared to healthy individuals, patients with major depression have significantly lower serum levels of Vitamin E (Maes et al. 2000; Owen et al. 2005; Mazloom et al. 2013) and Vitamin C (Khanzode et al. 2003). Similar to previous reports, the present study showed a beneficial effect of Vitamin E and C supplementation on depression-like behavior on tail suspension test performance. Similarly, Lobato et al. found that

acute or chronic treatment with α -tocopherol reduced the immobility time in the tail suspension and forced swim test (Lobato et al. 2010).

In contrast to previous studies, high doses of vitamins E and C did not seem to improve psychomotor or cognitive function in aged mice, but improved simple reflexes in alley turn and alleviated depression-like symptoms in tail suspension test in young mice. In a previous study, short-term Vitamin E supplementation (alpha-tocopheryl acetate, 1.65 g/kg) also failed to improve coordinated running, bridge walking or swim maze performance of 20-month-old C57BL6 mice (Sumien et al. 2004). Another study found that 16 weeks of antioxidant treatment (phenyl- α -tertbutyl nitrone, α -tocopherol, and ascorbate) in old rats improved cognitive function but failed to improve motor function , (Socci et al. 1995). In addition, short-term treatment with vitamin C alone failed to improve the cognitive function of 15 months old mice (Arzi et al. 2004). Also, few clinical studies involving Parkinson's disease (PD) patients failed to detect the efficacy of vitamins E and C in altering motor or cognitive performance, but delayed the need to use drugs in PD patients (Fahn 1991; Fahn 1992). An unanticipated finding was that vitamins E and C intake worsened the discriminative avoidance test performance in the reversal session in old mice.

In the present study, antioxidants did not have a favorable outcome on the brain function. It is possible that neurons may have died or synapses may have been lost in the old age, when antioxidant treatment was started (Petersen et al. 2005). Also, recent studies have also emphasized the benefits of initiating antioxidants supplementation at an earlier age to prevent age-related impairments as it is difficult to reverse already existing age-related damage (Shukitt-Hale et al. 1999; Sumien et al. 2004; McDonald and Forster 2005). Furthermore, some evidences suggest that prolonged administration of vitamin E ameliorates age-associated cognitive dysfunction and reduce oxidative damage in the brain (McDonald and Forster 2005).

Furthermore, the exercise protocol used in the present study has similar training effect in young and older mice (an equivalent increase in activity of citrate synthase in rectus femoris), that is also comparable to that observed in human studies (unpublished data). Furthermore, a kinetic analysis based on stride length of mouse vs. human suggested that the regimen used in this study would be similar to a brisk walk of ~3.4 miles in one hour, which is considered to be moderate type. The intensity of exercise can be predicted by measuring factors such as heart rate, oxygen uptake, and perceived exertion (Duncan et al. 2001; Dunbar and Kalinski 2004).

The present data shows that exercise leads to an improvement of reflexes in mice irrespective of age. Previous study in our lab also found an improvement in the reflexes of APOE3. Similar to our findings, physical activity for 20 weeks improved the reaction time of older individuals (Lord and Castell 1994). Exercise-induced improvements in the reflex behavior may be due to an increase in cerebral circulation and the alteration of the action of neurotransmitters (Kashihara et al. 2009).

The present data suggests that exercise in young mice seemed to decrease rearing in spontaneous activity test. Similar results were found in an earlier study using young APOE 3 mice (unpublished data). Furthermore, the exercise mice seemed to spend more time in the center of the spontaneous activity apparatus, reflecting a lower degree of anxiety. These findings are consistent with earlier observations where moderate treadmill exercise reduced anxiety-like behaviors in mice and rats (Salim et al. 2010; Chaudhari et al. 2014). However, one study observed that forced but not voluntary exercise increased anxiety-like behaviors of Long-Evans rats in the open field test. It should be noted that forced exercise regimen did not involve a treadmill based, but motorized wheels atop rotating axles were used (Leasure and Jones 2008a).

Furthermore, in the present study exercise improved grip strength only in young mice. Similarly, single treadmill walking session for 20 minutes improved the grip strength of young men with Down syndrome (Chen et al. 2014a). However, in contrast other studies did not find an effect of exercise on strength. To exemplify, Leiter and colleagues found no effect of voluntary wheel running for 3 weeks on grip strength in young (8 months) and old (18 months) C57BL/6 female mice using calibrated strain gauge (Leiter et al. 2012). In addition, in a clinical study Moritani and deVries reported that eight weeks of strength training did not improve strength gains of old and young men (Moritani and deVries 1980; Lambert and Evans 2002). In our view, the inconsistency in these results might be due to the difference in factors such as species, age, sex, intensity and duration of exercise, and choice of behavioral tests.

In a previous study, exercise improved the balance of young APOE3 mice but did not affect the performance of old mice (unpublished data). In contrast, the present data suggests that exercise reversed age-related declines in balance of old but not young mice. Similarly, Pothakos et al. found that 10 weeks of treadmill based exercise effectively improved balance and gait performance of C57BL/6 mice treated with 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)/probenecid (Pothakos et al. 2009). Clinical studies have also confirmed the benefits of exercise in PD patients (Miyai et al. 2000; Chen et al. 2005). Furthermore, a recent study found that exercise significantly improved the balance of osteoporotic women older than 70 years of age (Vaillant et al. 2006). Similarly, exercise training for 6 weeks in older diabetic patients improved the balance, proprioception, lower-limb strength, reaction time, and, consequently, decreased risk of falling (Morrison et al. 2010). A recent study by Gorton et al. found that treadmill exercise significantly increased rotorod performance of vehicle treated young adult male C57BL/6 mice (Gorton et al. 2010), consistent with our findings. However, it should be noted that the improvements with exercise were marginal on motor learning and gross motor function, but were rather noticeable on reflexes.

Human and animal studies have demonstrated that regular physical activity has been associated with an improvement in cognitive function (Kramer et al. 1999; Sutoo and Akiyama 2003; Berchtold et al. 2005). The present study data demonstrates that exercise improved the discriminative avoidance performance of young mice. Similarly, Chaudhari et al. reported that exercise improved learning in acquisition and reversal sessions of young APOE3 mice (Chaudhari et al. 2014). A growing literature suggests that exercise training is associated with improvement in passive avoidance learning (Saadati et al. 2010). Also, exercise training reversed morphine impaired the short-term memory and learning (Alaei et al. 2006). Together these findings suggest that exercise training is associated with an improvement in associative learning and cognitive flexibility in mice.

While, there are studies that demonstrated that both voluntary and forced exercise regimen improve hippocampal-dependent cognitive function (Berchtold et al. 2005; O'Callaghan et al. 2007; Berchtold et al. 2010; Lin et al. 2012), Barnes et al. reported that there was no effect of forced exercise training for 10-week on spatial learning in aged rats (Barnes et al. 1991). In the current study, effects on spatial learning were minimal at best. However, it should be noted that the combination of exercise and antioxidants increased spatial accuracy of the young mice during MWM.

The data on combination of antioxidant and exercise is very limited and equivocal. Aged rodents on antioxidant rich diet and swimming exercise have reported an additive effect on markers of oxidative stress in various brain regions (Devi and Kiran 2004; Wu et al. 2008). Whereas, few studies observed an antagonistic action of antioxidants on the beneficial effects of exercise (Ristow

et al. 2009; Paulsen et al. 2014). Taken together, it appears that interaction between antioxidant supplementation and exercise is highly complex and may depend on multiple factors.

Similar to the exercise group, the combination antioxidant intake and exercise lead to improvement in reflexes, motor and cognitive performance in young and/or old mice. Interestingly, the coordinated running performance of the young mice was improved in the learning phase before a plateau was reached. However, all these effects were significant, combining antioxidants to exercise did not lead to additive effects. These findings were in alignment with a previous study conducted in our lab using APOE 3 and APOE 4 mice (Chaudhari et al. 2014). Similarly, recent clinical studies reported that vitamin C and vitamin E supplementation failed to improve physical performance in well-nourished individuals (Gerster 1989; Williams 1989; Tiidus and Houston 1995; Williams 2004). It is possible that maximal ceiling effect in the performance was reached by individual interventions, thus further improvement in the behavior was not observed. However, further studies are needed to better understand the complex molecular mechanisms of interaction between exercise and antioxidant supplements.

Recent studies have suggested that when implemented independently, antioxidant supplementation and exercise can improve psychomotor and cognitive function, by attenuating age-associated increases in the oxidative damage in brain (Somani et al. 1995; Elokda and Nielsen 2007). Therefore, it is anticipated that combination of these interventions will effectively improve the cellular redox status. Unexpectedly, the intake of antioxidants or exercise failed to improve GSH:GSSG ratio or increase the level of catalase enzyme in different regions of the mouse brain, even though an improvement in behavior was observed.

Similar to present data, a previous study found that regional differences in the glutathione levels in each specific brain region and cerebral cortex had higher levels of GSH than other regions

82

(Somani et al. 1995). Also, exercise training or antioxidants did not significantly change GSH levels in this region (Somani et al. 1995). Similar to present study, Ozkaya et al. found that exercise did not alter catalase activity of brain of non-diabetic rats (Ozkaya et al. 2002)

Some other studies have suggested that beneficial effects of exercise on brain function are mediated via improvement in redox status, angiogenesis (Kerr et al. 2010), neurogenesis (van Praag et al. 1999; Brown et al. 2003; Pereira et al. 2007). Furthermore, exercise has been associated with upregulation of neuroplasticity signaling factors such as AKT, CREB phosphorylation and BDNF in the hippocampus and thus contribute to maintenance of cognitive function during aging (Vaynman et al. 2004; Berchtold et al. 2005; Aguiar et al. 2011; Liu et al. 2013).

In a recent study by Aguiar et al. intense exhaustive exercise regimens for 8 weeks elevated TBARS levels and reduced BDNF cortical levels, demonstrating mitochondrial dysfunction in brain of young male mice (Aguiar et al. 2008). However, 10 days of intense exercise in young male C57B1/6 mice, lead to memory reduction of exercised animals in comparison with the control group, and an associated increase in the brain oxidative stress (Rosa et al. 2007). Conversely, in 20 months old rats over-training did not induce oxidative stress in the brain or caused loss of memory, indicating the significant role of age in determining the outcome (Ogonovszky et al. 2005).

Furthermore, in alignment with previous studies the present study found an age-dependent increase in the levels of IL-6 and (TNF)- α (Pedersen et al. 2000; Bruunsgaard and Pedersen 2003). However, in contrast to previous studies antioxidants and exercise failed to affect the levels of plasma pro-inflammatory markers (Colbert et al. 2004; Yfanti et al. 2010).

Overall, exercise training alone and in combination with antioxidants, but not antioxidants alone, reversed age-related declines in motor and cognitive function. Furthermore, antioxidants supplementation did not block the beneficial effects of exercise on age-associated behavioral decline in psychomotor and cognitive function.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This dissertation work aimed to investigate whether the combination of antioxidants with exercise will maximally reverse age-related psychomotor and cognitive dysfunction. The present study demonstrated that antioxidant supplementation and moderate exercise improved various aspects of psychomotor and cognitive function in both young and old mice. However, the combination of exercise and antioxidant did not lead to additive or antagonistic effects.

It is possible that maximal ceiling effect in the performance was reached by individual interventions, thus further improvement in the behavior was not observed. However, further dose response studies are needed to better understand the complex interaction between exercise and antioxidant supplements.

Furthermore, lifestyle modifications factors such as exercise and antioxidant supplementation are increasingly being recommended as an important strategy to counteract the deleterious effects of age on brain function. However, selecting the accurate type, duration, and frequency of exercise or antioxidants has been challenging; especially in the elderly. Therefore, depending on the intended outcome these parameters may need to be adjusted. The results from this work may provide guidance for physicians to prescribe optimal doses of antioxidant and customized exercise regimens to delay or slow the cumulative functional declines associated with the aging process. The present results will also provide scientific evidence for designing clinical trials intended to evaluate effects of antioxidant supplementation and exercise training in elderly.

Furthermore, aging research should strive to understand the mechanisms responsible for the beneficial effects of exercise and develop new drugs that are capable of mimicking those complex mechanisms. Nevertheless, it is equally important to understand various interactions with other interventions; especially when it can be negative. The implications of exercise-mimetics are not just limited to elderly individuals, but also extend to the patients who cannot exercise due to various circumstances.

This work corroborates the findings of studies that observed functional benefits of moderate exercise on brain function and provide a foundation of experiments that study the interaction of exercise with antioxidants; especially in aged mice. However, many new areas are yet to be explored. A mentioned earlier that there is possibility that maximal ceiling effect in the performance was attained by individual interventions. To avoid the ceiling effect, one avenue that could be explored is to study the effects of different regimens such as intermittent antioxidant and moderate exercise regimen on the psychomotor and cognitive function. It is also important to study the sex differences in the context of the present study and further explore the interaction between exercise and antioxidant supplementation in females. Since, oxidative stress is more in premenopausal females compared to males, it is expected that interaction between antioxidants and exercise may result in differential effects on brain function.

One of the limitations of this study was that glutathione, which was determined by Cayman's kit, which does not seem to measure the levels accurately in the brain tissue as compared to a more robust technique; high-performance liquid Chromatography (HPLC). Furthermore, the present study evaluated limited markers of oxidative stress such as catalase activity and GSH: GSSG ratio. Also, we believe that additional biochemical tests such as Malondialdehyde (MDA), Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase (Cu,Zn-SOD) and selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase (GSPHx) could be considered to establish the role of oxidative stress in aging and effects of treatment. Since, we estimated oxidative stress parameters in the entire brain regions, it is possible that might have diluted the effects of treatments and aging. We suggest using immunohistochemistry methods for the detection and localization of oxidation in the brain.

REFERENCES

Agarwal S, Sohal RS (1994) Aging and protein oxidative damage. Mech Ageing Dev 75:11-19. doi: 0047-6374(94)90024-8 [pii].

Aguiar AS,Jr, Castro AA, Moreira EL, Glaser V, Santos AR, Tasca CI, Latini A, Prediger RD (2011) Short bouts of mild-intensity physical exercise improve spatial learning and memory in aging rats: involvement of hippocampal plasticity via AKT, CREB and BDNF signaling. Mech Ageing Dev 132:560-567. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2011.09.005 [doi].

Aguiar AS,Jr, Tuon T, Pinho CA, Silva LA, Andreazza AC, Kapczinski F, Quevedo J, Streck EL, Pinho RA (2008) Intense exercise induces mitochondrial dysfunction in mice brain. Neurochem Res 33:51-58. doi: 10.1007/s11064-007-9406-x [doi].

Agus DB, Gambhir SS, Pardridge WM, Spielholz C, Baselga J, Vera JC, Golde DW (1997) Vitamin C crosses the blood-brain barrier in the oxidized form through the glucose transporters. J Clin Invest 100:2842-2848. doi: 10.1172/JCI119832 [doi].

Ahlskog JE, Geda YE, Graff-Radford NR, Petersen RC (2011) Physical exercise as a preventive or disease-modifying treatment of dementia and brain aging. Mayo Clin Proc 86:876-884. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2011.0252 [doi].

Alaei H, Borjeian L, Azizi M, Orian S, Pourshanazari A, Hanninen O (2006) Treadmill running reverses retention deficit induced by morphine. Eur J Pharmacol 536:138-141. doi: S0014-2999(06)00169-5 [pii].

Alexeyev MF, Ledoux SP, Wilson GL (2004) Mitochondrial DNA and aging. Clin Sci (Lond) 107:355-364. doi: 10.1042/CS20040148 [doi].

Ames BN, Shigenaga MK, Hagen TM (1993) Oxidants, antioxidants, and the degenerative diseases of aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:7915-7922.

Anderson BJ, Rapp DN, Baek DH, McCloskey DP, Coburn-Litvak PS, Robinson JK (2000) Exercise influences spatial learning in the radial arm maze. Physiol Behav 70:425-429. doi: S0031-9384(00)00282-1 [pii].

Angevaren M, Aufdemkampe G, Verhaar HJ, Aleman A, Vanhees L (2008) Physical activity and enhanced fitness to improve cognitive function in older people without known cognitive impairment. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD005381. doi:CD005381. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005381.pub2 [doi].

Arzi A, Hemmati AA, Razian A (2004) Effect of vitamins C and E on cognitive function in mouse. Pharmacol Res 49:249-252. doi: S1043661803003311 [pii].

Ashok BT, Ali R (1999) The aging paradox: free radical theory of aging. Exp Gerontol 34:293-303. doi: S0531-5565(99)00005-4 [pii].

Banks R, Speakman JR, Selman C (2010) Vitamin E supplementation and mammalian lifespan. Mol Nutr Food Res 54:719-725. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200900382 [doi].

Barnes CA, Forster MJ, Fleshner M, Ahanotu EN, Laudenslager ML, Mazzeo RS, Maier SF, Lal H (1991) Exercise does not modify spatial memory, brain autoimmunity, or antibody response in aged F-344 rats. Neurobiol Aging 12:47-53.

Baynard T, Vieira-Potter VJ, Valentine RJ, Woods JA (2012) Exercise training effects on inflammatory gene expression in white adipose tissue of young mice. Mediators Inflamm 2012:767953. doi: 10.1155/2012/767953 [doi].

Beckman KB, Ames BN (1998a) The free radical theory of aging matures. Physiol Rev 78:547-581.

Beckman KB, Ames BN (1998b) The free radical theory of aging matures. Physiol Rev 78:547-581.

Beekman AT, Copeland JR, Prince MJ (1999) Review of community prevalence of depression in later life. Br J Psychiatry 174:307-311.

Bell RR, Spencer MJ, Sherriff JL (1995) Diet-induced obesity in mice can be treated without energy restriction using exercise and/or a low fat diet. J Nutr 125:2356-2363.

Bendich A, Langseth L (1995) The health effects of vitamin C supplementation: a review. J Am Coll Nutr 14:124-136.

Beneke S, Burkle A (2004) Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation, PARP, and aging. Sci Aging Knowledge Environ 2004:re9. doi: 2004/49/re9 [pii].

Berchtold NC, Castello N, Cotman CW (2010) Exercise and time-dependent benefits to learning and memory. Neuroscience 167:588-597. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.050 [doi].

Berchtold NC, Chinn G, Chou M, Kesslak JP, Cotman CW (2005) Exercise primes a molecular memory for brain-derived neurotrophic factor protein induction in the rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 133:853-861. doi: S0306-4522(05)00365-9 [pii].

Berger MM (2005) Can oxidative damage be treated nutritionally? Clin Nutr 24:172-183. doi: S0261-5614(04)00175-X [pii].

Biesalski HK (2002) Free radical theory of aging. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 5:5-10.

Blair SN, Kohl HW,3rd, Barlow CE, Paffenbarger RS,Jr, Gibbons LW, Macera CA (1995) Changes in physical fitness and all-cause mortality. A prospective study of healthy and unhealthy men. JAMA 273:1093-1098. Bowman GL, Dodge H, Frei B, Calabrese C, Oken BS, Kaye JA, Quinn JF (2009a) Ascorbic acid and rates of cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 16:93-98. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2009-0923 [doi].

Bowman GL, Dodge H, Frei B, Calabrese C, Oken BS, Kaye JA, Quinn JF (2009b) Ascorbic acid and rates of cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 16:93-98. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2009-0923 [doi].

Brewer GJ (2010) Why vitamin E therapy fails for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 19:27-30. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-1238 [doi].

Brigelius-Flohe R, Traber MG (1999) Vitamin E: function and metabolism. FASEB J 13:1145-1155.

Brown J, Cooper-Kuhn CM, Kempermann G, Van Praag H, Winkler J, Gage FH, Kuhn HG (2003) Enriched environment and physical activity stimulate hippocampal but not olfactory bulb neurogenesis. Eur J Neurosci 17:2042-2046. doi: 2647 [pii].

Bruunsgaard H, Pedersen BK (2003) Age-related inflammatory cytokines and disease. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 23:15-39.

Buffenstein R (2008) Negligible senescence in the longest living rodent, the naked mole-rat: insights from a successfully aging species. J Comp Physiol B 178:439-445. doi: 10.1007/s00360-007-0237-5 [doi].

Buffenstein R (2005) The naked mole-rat: a new long-living model for human aging research. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 60:1369-1377. doi: 60/11/1369 [pii].

Burkle A, Diefenbach J, Brabeck C, Beneke S (2005) Ageing and PARP. Pharmacol Res 52:93-99. doi: S1043-6618(05)00040-X [pii].

Cadenas E, Davies KJ (2000) Mitochondrial free radical generation, oxidative stress, and aging. Free Radic Biol Med 29:222-230. doi: S0891-5849(00)00317-8 [pii].

Carelli S, Ceriotti A, Cabibbo A, Fassina G, Ruvo M, Sitia R (1997) Cysteine and glutathione secretion in response to protein disulfide bond formation in the ER. Science 277:1681-1684.

Carney JM, Tolliver B, Carney JP, Kindy MS (1991) Selective effects of behaviorally active doses of methamphetamine on mRNA expression in the gerbil brain. Neuropharmacology 30:1011-1019.

Caudwell P, Hopkins M, King NA, Stubbs RJ, Blundell JE (2009) Exercise alone is not enough: weight loss also needs a healthy (Mediterranean) diet? Public Health Nutr 12:1663-1666. doi: 10.1017/S1368980009990528 [doi].

Cetin E, Top EC, Sahin G, Ozkaya YG, Aydin H, Toraman F (2010) Effect of vitamin E supplementation with exercise on cognitive functions and total antioxidant capacity in older people. J Nutr Health Aging 14:763-769.

Chai YC, Ashraf SS, Rokutan K, Johnston RB,Jr, Thomas JA (1994) S-thiolation of individual human neutrophil proteins including actin by stimulation of the respiratory burst: evidence against a role for glutathione disulfide. Arch Biochem Biophys 310:273-281. doi: S0003-9861(84)71167-2 [pii].

Chatterjee IB, Majumder AK, Nandi BK, Subramanian N (1975) Synthesis and some major functions of vitamin C in animals. Ann N Y Acad Sci 258:24-47.

Chaudhari K, Wong JM, Vann PH, Sumien N (2014) Exercise training and antioxidant supplementation independently improve cognitive function in adult male and female GFAP-APOE mice. Journal of Sport and Health Science 3:196-205. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2014.04.004.

Chen CC, Ringenbach DR, Snow M (2014a) Treadmill walking effects on grip strength in young men with Down syndrome. Res Dev Disabil 35:288-293. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2013.10.032 [doi].

Chen H, Zhang SM, Schwarzschild MA, Hernan MA, Ascherio A (2005) Physical activity and the risk of Parkinson disease. Neurology 64:664-669. doi: 64/4/664 [pii].

Chen Y, Luo G, Yuan J, Wang Y, Yang X, Wang X, Li G, Liu Z, Zhong N (2014b) Vitamin C mitigates oxidative stress and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in severe community-acquired pneumonia and LPS-induced macrophages. Mediators Inflamm 2014:426740. doi: 10.1155/2014/426740 [doi].

Chung HY, Kim HJ, Kim JW, Yu BP (2001) The inflammation hypothesis of aging: molecular modulation by calorie restriction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 928:327-335.

Colbert LH, Visser M, Simonsick EM, Tracy RP, Newman AB, Kritchevsky SB, Pahor M, Taaffe DR, Brach J, Rubin S et al (2004) Physical activity, exercise, and inflammatory markers in older adults: findings from the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 52:1098-1104. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52307.x [doi].

Colman RJ, Beasley TM, Kemnitz JW, Johnson SC, Weindruch R, Anderson RM (2014) Caloric restriction reduces age-related and all-cause mortality in rhesus monkeys. Nat Commun 5:3557. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4557 [doi].

Cook-Mills JM, McCary CA (2010) Isoforms of vitamin E differentially regulate inflammation. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets 10:348-366. doi: EMID-DT-ABS-49 [pii].

Coppack SW (2001) Pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipose tissue. Proc Nutr Soc 60:349-356. doi: S0029665101000386 [pii].

Costa MS, Ardais AP, Fioreze GT, Mioranzza S, Botton PH, Souza DO, Rocha JB, Porciuncula LO (2012) The impact of the frequency of moderate exercise on memory and brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling in young adult and middle-aged rats. Neuroscience 222:100-109. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.06.068 [doi].

Cross CE, Halliwell B, Borish ET, Pryor WA, Ames BN, Saul RL, McCord JM, Harman D (1987) Oxygen radicals and human disease. Ann Intern Med 107:526-545.

Currais A, Maher P (2013) Functional consequences of age-dependent changes in glutathione status in the brain. Antioxid Redox Signal 19:813-822. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.4996 [doi].

de Angelis L, Furlan C (1995) The effects of ascorbic acid and oxiracetam on scopolamineinduced amnesia in a habituation test in aged mice. Neurobiol Learn Mem 64:119-124. doi: S1074742785710507 [pii].

de Rodas BZ, Maxwell CV, Davis ME, Mandali S, Broekman E, Stoecker BJ (1998) L-ascorbyl-2-polyphosphate as a vitamin C source for segregated and conventionally weaned pigs. J Anim Sci 76:1636-1643.

Desrumaux C, Risold PY, Schroeder H, Deckert V, Masson D, Athias A, Laplanche H, Le Guern N, Blache D, Jiang XC et al (2005) Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) deficiency reduces brain vitamin E content and increases anxiety in mice. FASEB J 19:296-297. doi: 04-2400fje [pii].

Devi SA, Kiran TR (2004) Regional responses in antioxidant system to exercise training and dietary vitamin E in aging rat brain. Neurobiol Aging 25:501-508. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(03)00112-X [doi].

Dixit S, Bernardo A, Walker JM, Kennard JA, Kim GY, Kessler ES, Harrison FE (2015) Vitamin C deficiency in the brain impairs cognition, increases amyloid accumulation and deposition, and oxidative stress in APP/PSEN1 and normally aging mice. ACS Chem Neurosci 6:570-581. doi: 10.1021/cn500308h [doi].

Drouin G, Godin JR, Page B (2011) The genetics of vitamin C loss in vertebrates. Curr Genomics 12:371-378. doi: 10.2174/138920211796429736 [doi].

Dunbar CC, Kalinski MI (2004) Using RPE to regulate exercise intensity during a 20-week training program for postmenopausal women: a pilot study. Percept Mot Skills 99:688-690. doi: 10.2466/pms.99.2.688-690 [doi].

Duncan GE, Sydeman SJ, Perri MG, Limacher MC, Martin AD (2001) Can sedentary adults accurately recall the intensity of their physical activity? Prev Med 33:18-26. doi: 10.1006/pmed.2001.0847 [doi].

Elchuri S, Oberley TD, Qi W, Eisenstein RS, Jackson Roberts L, Van Remmen H, Epstein CJ, Huang TT (2005) CuZnSOD deficiency leads to persistent and widespread oxidative damage and hepatocarcinogenesis later in life. Oncogene 24:367-380. doi: 1208207 [pii].

Elokda AS, Nielsen DH (2007) Effects of exercise training on the glutathione antioxidant system. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 14:630-637. doi: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e32828622d7 [doi].

Evans PH (1993) Free radicals in brain metabolism and pathology. Br Med Bull 49:577-587.

Fahn S (1992) A pilot trial of high-dose alpha-tocopherol and ascorbate in early Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 32 Suppl:S128-32.

Fahn S (1991) An open trial of high-dosage antioxidants in early Parkinson's disease. Am J Clin Nutr 53:380S-382S.

Fang YZ, Yang S, Wu G (2002) Free radicals, antioxidants, and nutrition. Nutrition 18:872-879. doi: S0899900702009164 [pii].

Finkel T, Holbrook NJ (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 408:239-247. doi: 10.1038/35041687 [doi].

Fischer-Nielsen A, Jeding IB, Loft S (1994) Radiation-induced formation of 8-hydroxy-2'deoxyguanosine and its prevention by scavengers. Carcinogenesis 15:1609-1612.

Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD (2010) Extending healthy life span--from yeast to humans. Science 328:321-326. doi: 10.1126/science.1172539 [doi].

Forster MJ, Dubey A, Dawson KM, Stutts WA, Lal H, Sohal RS (1996) Age-related losses of cognitive function and motor skills in mice are associated with oxidative protein damage in the brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:4765-4769.

Foy CJ, Passmore AP, Vahidassr MD, Young IS, Lawson JT (1999) Plasma chain-breaking antioxidants in Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia and Parkinson's disease. QJM 92:39-45.

Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, De Benedictis G (2000) Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci 908:244-254.

Fusco D, Colloca G, Lo Monaco MR, Cesari M (2007) Effects of antioxidant supplementation on the aging process. Clin Interv Aging 2:377-387.

Gale CR, Martyn CN, Cooper C (1996) Cognitive impairment and mortality in a cohort of elderly people. BMJ 312:608-611.

Gerster H (1989) The role of vitamin C in athletic performance. J Am Coll Nutr 8:636-643.

Gilgun-Sherki Y, Melamed E, Offen D (2001) Oxidative stress induced-neurodegenerative diseases: the need for antioxidants that penetrate the blood brain barrier. Neuropharmacology 40:959-975. doi: S0028390801000193 [pii].

Gill R, Tsung A, Billiar T (2010) Linking oxidative stress to inflammation: Toll-like receptors. Free Radic Biol Med 48:1121-1132. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.01.006 [doi].

Glisky EL (2007) Changes in Cognitive Function in Human Aging. Riddle DR. Brain Aging: Models, Methods, and Mechanisms. Boca Raton (FL), Taylor & Francis Group, LLC.

Gomez-Cabrera MC, Domenech E, Romagnoli M, Arduini A, Borras C, Pallardo FV, Sastre J, Vina J (2008) Oral administration of vitamin C decreases muscle mitochondrial biogenesis and hampers training-induced adaptations in endurance performance. Am J Clin Nutr 87:142-149. doi: 87/1/142 [pii].

Gorton LM, Vuckovic MG, Vertelkina N, Petzinger GM, Jakowec MW, Wood RI (2010) Exercise effects on motor and affective behavior and catecholamine neurochemistry in the MPTP-lesioned mouse. Behav Brain Res 213:253-262. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.05.009 [doi].

Grodstein F, Chen J, Willett WC (2003) High-dose antioxidant supplements and cognitive function in community-dwelling elderly women. Am J Clin Nutr 77:975-984.

Halliwell B (1996) Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr 16:33-50. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nu.16.070196.000341 [doi].

Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM (1995) The definition and measurement of antioxidants in biological systems. Free Radic Biol Med 18:125-126. doi: 0891584995914573 [pii].

Hansen SN, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J (2014) Does vitamin C deficiency affect cognitive development and function? Nutrients 6:3818-3846. doi: 10.3390/nu6093818 [doi].

Harman D (2003) The free radical theory of aging. Antioxid Redox Signal 5:557-561. doi: 10.1089/152308603770310202 [doi].

HARMAN D (1956) Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol 11:298-300.

Harrison FE, Dawes SM, Meredith ME, Babaev VR, Li L, May JM (2010) Low vitamin C and increased oxidative stress and cell death in mice that lack the sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter SVCT2. Free Radic Biol Med 49:821-829. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.06.008 [doi].

Harrison FE, May JM (2009) Vitamin C function in the brain: vital role of the ascorbate transporter SVCT2. Free Radic Biol Med 46:719-730. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.12.018 [doi].

Heyn P, Abreu BC, Ottenbacher KJ (2004) The effects of exercise training on elderly persons with cognitive impairment and dementia: a meta-analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 85:1694-1704. doi: S0003999304003971 [pii].

Holehan AM, Merry BJ (1986) The experimental manipulation of ageing by diet. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 61:329-368.

Hotting K, Roder B (2013) Beneficial effects of physical exercise on neuroplasticity and cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37:2243-2257. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.005 [doi].

Imayoshi I, Sakamoto M, Ohtsuka T, Takao K, Miyakawa T, Yamaguchi M, Mori K, Ikeda T, Itohara S, Kageyama R (2008) Roles of continuous neurogenesis in the structural and functional integrity of the adult forebrain. Nat Neurosci 11:1153-1161. doi: 10.1038/nn.2185 [doi].

Jak AJ (2012) The impact of physical and mental activity on cognitive aging. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 10:273-291. doi: 10.1007/7854_2011_141 [doi].

Jang YC, Perez VI, Song W, Lustgarten MS, Salmon AB, Mele J, Qi W, Liu Y, Liang H, Chaudhuri A et al (2009) Overexpression of Mn superoxide dismutase does not increase life span in mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 64:1114-1125. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glp100 [doi].

Jiang Q, Christen S, Shigenaga MK, Ames BN (2001) gamma-tocopherol, the major form of vitamin E in the US diet, deserves more attention. Am J Clin Nutr 74:714-722.

Jolitha AB, Subramanyam MV, Asha Devi S (2006) Modification by vitamin E and exercise of oxidative stress in regions of aging rat brain: studies on superoxide dismutase isoenzymes and protein oxidation status. Exp Gerontol 41:753-763. doi: S0531-5565(06)00109-4 [pii].

Kaikkonen J, Kosonen L, Nyyssonen K, Porkkala-Sarataho E, Salonen R, Korpela H, Salonen JT (1998) Effect of combined coenzyme Q10 and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate supplementation on exercise-induced lipid peroxidation and muscular damage: a placebo-controlled double-blind study in marathon runners. Free Radic Res 29:85-92.

Kashihara K, Maruyama T, Murota M, Nakahara Y (2009) Positive effects of acute and moderate physical exercise on cognitive function. J Physiol Anthropol 28:155-164. doi: JST.JSTAGE/jpa2/28.155 [pii].

Kerr AL, Steuer EL, Pochtarev V, Swain RA (2010) Angiogenesis but not neurogenesis is critical for normal learning and memory acquisition. Neuroscience 171:214-226. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.08.008 [doi].

Khanzode SD, Dakhale GN, Khanzode SS, Saoji A, Palasodkar R (2003) Oxidative damage and major depression: the potential antioxidant action of selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors. Redox Rep 8:365-370. doi: 10.1179/135100003225003393 [doi].

Kontush A, Mann U, Arlt S, Ujeyl A, Luhrs C, Muller-Thomsen T, Beisiegel U (2001) Influence of vitamin E and C supplementation on lipoprotein oxidation in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 31:345-354. doi: S0891584901005950 [pii].

Kramer AF, Erickson KI, Colcombe SJ (2006) Exercise, cognition, and the aging brain. J Appl Physiol (1985) 101:1237-1242. doi: 00500.2006 [pii].

Kramer AF, Hahn S, Cohen NJ, Banich MT, McAuley E, Harrison CR, Chason J, Vakil E, Bardell L, Boileau RA et al (1999) Ageing, fitness and neurocognitive function. Nature 400:418-419. doi: 10.1038/22682 [doi].

Kutlu M, Naziroglu M, Simsek H, Yilmaz T, Sahap Kukner A (2005) Moderate exercise combined with dietary vitamins C and E counteracts oxidative stress in the kidney and lens of streptozotocin-induced diabetic-rat. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 75:71-80. doi: 10.1024/0300-9831.75.1.71 [doi].

La Fata G, Weber P, Mohajeri MH (2014) Effects of vitamin E on cognitive performance during ageing and in Alzheimer's disease. Nutrients 6:5453-5472. doi: 10.3390/nu6125453 [doi].

Lambert CP, Evans WJ (2002) Effects of aging and resistance exercise on determinants of muscle strength. J Am Aging Assoc 25:73-78. doi: 10.1007/s11357-002-0005-0 [doi].

Lautenschlager NT, Cox K, Cyarto EV (2012) The influence of exercise on brain aging and dementia. Biochim Biophys Acta 1822:474-481. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.07.010 [doi].

Leasure JL, Jones M (2008a) Forced and voluntary exercise differentially affect brain and behavior. Neuroscience 156:456-465. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.07.041 [doi].

Leasure JL, Jones M (2008b) Forced and voluntary exercise differentially affect brain and behavior. Neuroscience 156:456-465. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.07.041 [doi].

Lee L, Kang SA, Lee HO, Lee BH, Jung IK, Lee JE, Hoe YS (2001) Effect of supplementation of vitamin E and vitamin C on brain acetylcholinesterase activity and neurotransmitter levels in rats treated with scopolamine, an inducer of dementia. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 47:323-328.

Leiter JR, Upadhaya R, Anderson JE (2012) Nitric oxide and voluntary exercise together promote quadriceps hypertrophy and increase vascular density in female 18-mo-old mice. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 302:C1306-15. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00305.2011 [doi].

LeVault KR, Tischkau SA, Brewer GJ (2015) Circadian Disruption Reveals a Correlation of an Oxidative GSH/GSSG Redox Shift with Learning and Impaired Memory in an Alzheimer's Disease Mouse Model. J Alzheimers Dis. doi: JAD150026 [pii].

Levine M (1986) New concepts in the biology and biochemistry of ascorbic acid. N Engl J Med 314:892-902. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198604033141407 [doi].
Levine M, Conry-Cantilena C, Wang Y, Welch RW, Washko PW, Dhariwal KR, Park JB, Lazarev A, Graumlich JF, King J et al (1996) Vitamin C pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers: evidence for a recommended dietary allowance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:3704-3709.

Lewis KN, Andziak B, Yang T, Buffenstein R (2013) The naked mole-rat response to oxidative stress: just deal with it. Antioxid Redox Signal 19:1388-1399. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.4911 [doi].

Li FJ, Shen L, Ji HF (2012) Dietary intakes of vitamin E, vitamin C, and beta-carotene and risk of Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis. J Alzheimers Dis 31:253-258. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2012-120349 [doi].

Lin TW, Chen SJ, Huang TY, Chang CY, Chuang JI, Wu FS, Kuo YM, Jen CJ (2012) Different types of exercise induce differential effects on neuronal adaptations and memory performance. Neurobiol Learn Mem 97:140-147. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2011.10.006 [doi].

Liochev SI (2013a) Reactive oxygen species and the free radical theory of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 60:1-4. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.02.011 [doi].

Liochev SI (2013b) Reactive oxygen species and the free radical theory of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 60:1-4. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.02.011 [doi].

Liu Y, Cao C, Yan JH (2013) Functional aging impairs the role of feedback in motor learning. Geriatr Gerontol Int 13:849-859. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12013 [doi].

Lloret A, Badia MC, Mora NJ, Pallardo FV, Alonso MD, Vina J (2009) Vitamin E paradox in Alzheimer's disease: it does not prevent loss of cognition and may even be detrimental. J Alzheimers Dis 17:143-149. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2009-1033 [doi].

Lobato KR, Cardoso CC, Binfare RW, Budni J, Wagner CL, Brocardo PS, de Souza LF, Brocardo C, Flesch S, Freitas AE et al (2010) alpha-Tocopherol administration produces an antidepressant-like effect in predictive animal models of depression. Behav Brain Res 209:249-259. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.02.002 [doi].

Locigno R, Castronovo V (2001) Reduced glutathione system: role in cancer development, prevention and treatment (review). Int J Oncol 19:221-236.

Lord S, Castell S (1994) Effect of exercise on balance, strength and reaction time in older people. Aust J Physiother 40:83-88. doi: 10.1016/S0004-9514(14)60454-2 [doi].

Ma DK, Bonaguidi MA, Ming GL, Song H (2009) Adult neural stem cells in the mammalian central nervous system. Cell Res 19:672-682. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.56 [doi].

Ma Q (2008) Beneficial effects of moderate voluntary physical exercise and its biological mechanisms on brain health. Neurosci Bull 24:265-270. doi: 10.1007/s12264-008-0402-1 [doi].

Maes M, De Vos N, Pioli R, Demedts P, Wauters A, Neels H, Christophe A (2000) Lower serum vitamin E concentrations in major depression. Another marker of lowered antioxidant defenses in that illness. J Affect Disord 58:241-246. doi: S0165032799001214 [pii].

Maher P (2006) Redox control of neural function: background, mechanisms, and significance. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:1941-1970. doi: 10.1089/ars.2006.8.1941 [doi].

Mainardi M, Scabia G, Vottari T, Santini F, Pinchera A, Maffei L, Pizzorusso T, Maffei M (2010) A sensitive period for environmental regulation of eating behavior and leptin sensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:16673-16678. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911832107 [doi].

Mandavilli BS, Santos JH, Van Houten B (2002) Mitochondrial DNA repair and aging. Mutat Res 509:127-151. doi: S0027510702002208 [pii].

Martin A, Youdim K, Szprengiel A, Shukitt-Hale B, Joseph J (2002) Roles of vitamins E and C on neurodegenerative diseases and cognitive performance. Nutr Rev 60:308-326.

Massaad CA, Klann E (2011) Reactive oxygen species in the regulation of synaptic plasticity and memory. Antioxid Redox Signal 14:2013-2054. doi: 10.1089/ars.2010.3208 [doi].

Mastaloudis A, Morrow JD, Hopkins DW, Devaraj S, Traber MG (2004) Antioxidant supplementation prevents exercise-induced lipid peroxidation, but not inflammation, in ultramarathon runners. Free Radic Biol Med 36:1329-1341. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.02.069 [doi].

Mattusch F, Dufaux B, Heine O, Mertens I, Rost R (2000) Reduction of the plasma concentration of C-reactive protein following nine months of endurance training. Int J Sports Med 21:21-24. doi: 10.1055/s-2000-8852 [doi].

Mazloom Z, Ekramzadeh M, Hejazi N (2013) Efficacy of supplementary vitamins C and E on anxiety, depression and stress in type 2 diabetic patients: a randomized, single-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Pak J Biol Sci 16:1597-1600.

McDonald SR, Forster MJ (2005) Lifelong vitamin E intake retards age-associated decline of spatial learning ability in apoE-deficient mice. Age (Dordr) 27:5-16. doi: 10.1007/s11357-005-4003-x [doi].

Mele J, Van Remmen H, Vijg J, Richardson A (2006) Characterization of transgenic mice that overexpress both copper zinc superoxide dismutase and catalase. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:628-638. doi: 10.1089/ars.2006.8.628 [doi].

Ming GL, Song H (2011) Adult neurogenesis in the mammalian brain: significant answers and significant questions. Neuron 70:687-702. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.05.001 [doi].

Miyai I, Fujimoto Y, Ueda Y, Yamamoto H, Nozaki S, Saito T, Kang J (2000) Treadmill training with body weight support: its effect on Parkinson's disease. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 81:849-852. doi: S0003-9993(00)75502-X [pii].

Moldoveanu AI, Shephard RJ, Shek PN (2001) The cytokine response to physical activity and training. Sports Med 31:115-144.

Moritani T, deVries HA (1980) Potential for gross muscle hypertrophy in older men. J Gerontol 35:672-682.

Morrison S, Colberg SR, Mariano M, Parson HK, Vinik AI (2010) Balance training reduces falls risk in older individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 33:748-750. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1699 [doi].

Muller FL, Lustgarten MS, Jang Y, Richardson A, Van Remmen H (2007) Trends in oxidative aging theories. Free Radic Biol Med 43:477-503. doi: S0891-5849(07)00248-1 [pii].

Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE (2002) Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. N Engl J Med 346:793-801. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa011858 [doi].

Navarro A, Gomez C, Lopez-Cepero JM, Boveris A (2004) Beneficial effects of moderate exercise on mice aging: survival, behavior, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial electron transfer. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 286:R505-11. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00208.2003 [doi].

Noctor G, Foyer CH (1998) ASCORBATE AND GLUTATHIONE: Keeping Active Oxygen Under Control. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 49:249-279. doi: 10.1146/annurev.arplant.49.1.249 [doi].

O'Callaghan RM, Ohle R, Kelly AM (2007) The effects of forced exercise on hippocampal plasticity in the rat: A comparison of LTP, spatial- and non-spatial learning. Behav Brain Res 176:362-366. doi: S0166-4328(06)00562-6 [pii].

Ogonovszky H, Berkes I, Kumagai S, Kaneko T, Tahara S, Goto S, Radak Z (2005) The effects of moderate-, strenuous- and over-training on oxidative stress markers, DNA repair, and memory, in rat brain. Neurochem Int 46:635-640. doi: S0197-0186(05)00066-5 [pii].

Olshansky SJ, Goldman DP, Zheng Y, Rowe JW (2009) Aging in America in the twenty-first century: demographic forecasts from the MacArthur Foundation Research Network on an Aging Society. Milbank Q 87:842-862. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2009.00581.x [doi].

Ouchi Y, Banno Y, Shimizu Y, Ando S, Hasegawa H, Adachi K, Iwamoto T (2013) Reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis and working memory deficits in the Dgcr8-deficient mouse model of 22q11.2 deletion-associated schizophrenia can be rescued by IGF2. J Neurosci 33:9408-9419. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2700-12.2013 [doi].

Owen AJ, Batterham MJ, Probst YC, Grenyer BF, Tapsell LC (2005) Low plasma vitamin E levels in major depression: diet or disease? Eur J Clin Nutr 59:304-306. doi: 1602072 [pii].

Ozkaya YG, Agar A, Yargicoglu P, Hacioglu G, Bilmen-Sarikcioglu S, Ozen I, Aliciguzel Y (2002) The effect of exercise on brain antioxidant status of diabetic rats. Diabetes Metab 28:377-384. doi: MDOI-DM-11-2002-28-5-1262-3636-101019-ART4 [pii].

Parle M, Dhingra D (2003) Ascorbic Acid: a promising memory-enhancer in mice. J Pharmacol Sci 93:129-135.

Paulsen G, Cumming KT, Holden G, Hallen J, Ronnestad BR, Sveen O, Skaug A, Paur I, Bastani NE, Ostgaard HN et al (2014) Vitamin C and E supplementation hampers cellular adaptation to endurance training in humans: a double-blind, randomised, controlled trial. J Physiol 592:1887-1901. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.267419 [doi].

Pedersen BK, Bruunsgaard H, Ostrowski K, Krabbe K, Hansen H, Krzywkowski K, Toft A, Sondergaard SR, Petersen EW, Ibfelt T et al (2000) Cytokines in aging and exercise. Int J Sports Med 21 Suppl 1:S4-9.

Pereira AC, Huddleston DE, Brickman AM, Sosunov AA, Hen R, McKhann GM, Sloan R, Gage FH, Brown TR, Small SA (2007) An in vivo correlate of exercise-induced neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:5638-5643. doi: 0611721104 [pii].

Perez VI, Bokov A, Van Remmen H, Mele J, Ran Q, Ikeno Y, Richardson A (2009a) Is the oxidative stress theory of aging dead? Biochim Biophys Acta 1790:1005-1014. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2009.06.003 [doi].

Perez VI, Van Remmen H, Bokov A, Epstein CJ, Vijg J, Richardson A (2009b) The overexpression of major antioxidant enzymes does not extend the lifespan of mice. Aging Cell 8:73-75. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00449.x [doi].

Perry DP (2010) Introduction to Aging, Cancer, and Age-related Diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1197:vii-x. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05394.x [doi].

Peters R (2006a) Ageing and the brain. Postgrad Med J 82:84-88. doi: 82/964/84 [pii].

Peters R (2006b) Ageing and the brain. Postgrad Med J 82:84-88. doi: 82/964/84 [pii].

Petersen RC, Thomas RG, Grundman M, Bennett D, Doody R, Ferris S, Galasko D, Jin S, Kaye J, Levey A et al (2005) Vitamin E and donepezil for the treatment of mild cognitive impairment. N Engl J Med 352:2379-2388. doi: NEJMoa050151 [pii].

Phillips JP, Campbell SD, Michaud D, Charbonneau M, Hilliker AJ (1989) Null mutation of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase in Drosophila confers hypersensitivity to paraquat and reduced longevity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:2761-2765.

Pileblad E, Magnusson T (1990) Effective depletion of glutathione in rat striatum and substantia nigra by L-buthionine sulfoximine in combination with 2-cyclohexene-1-one. Life Sci 47:2333-2342.

Pothakos K, Kurz MJ, Lau YS (2009) Restorative effect of endurance exercise on behavioral deficits in the chronic mouse model of Parkinson's disease with severe neurodegeneration. BMC Neurosci 10:6-2202-10-6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-10-6 [doi].

Radak Z, Taylor AW, Ohno H, Goto S (2001) Adaptation to exercise-induced oxidative stress: from muscle to brain. Exerc Immunol Rev 7:90-107.

Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N (2008) Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. FASEB J 22:659-661. doi: fj.07-9574LSF [pii].

Rebrin I, Forster MJ, Sohal RS (2011) Association between life-span extension by caloric restriction and thiol redox state in two different strains of mice. Free Radic Biol Med 51:225-233. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.04.006 [doi].

Rebrin I, Kamzalov S, Sohal RS (2003) Effects of age and caloric restriction on glutathione redox state in mice. Free Radic Biol Med 35:626-635. doi: S0891584903003885 [pii].

Rebrin I, Sohal RS (2004) Comparison of thiol redox state of mitochondria and homogenates of various tissues between two strains of mice with different longevities. Exp Gerontol 39:1513-1519. doi: S0531-5565(04)00269-4 [pii].

Richter C, Park JW, Ames BN (1988) Normal oxidative damage to mitochondrial and nuclear DNA is extensive. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:6465-6467.

Ristow M, Zarse K, Oberbach A, Kloting N, Birringer M, Kiehntopf M, Stumvoll M, Kahn CR, Bluher M (2009) Antioxidants prevent health-promoting effects of physical exercise in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:8665-8670. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903485106 [doi].

Riviere S, Birlouez-Aragon I, Nourhashemi F, Vellas B (1998) Low plasma vitamin C in Alzheimer patients despite an adequate diet. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 13:749-754. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1166(1998110)13:11<749::AID-GPS860>3.0.CO;2-T [pii].

Rosa EF, Takahashi S, Aboulafia J, Nouailhetas VL, Oliveira MG (2007) Oxidative stress induced by intense and exhaustive exercise impairs murine cognitive function. J Neurophysiol 98:1820-1826. doi: 01158.2006 [pii].

Rosales-Corral S, Tan DX, Reiter RJ, Valdivia-Velazquez M, Martinez-Barboza G, Acosta-Martinez JP, Ortiz GG (2003) Orally administered melatonin reduces oxidative stress and proinflammatory cytokines induced by amyloid-beta peptide in rat brain: a comparative, in vivo study versus vitamin C and E. J Pineal Res 35:80-84. doi: 057 [pii]. Saadati H, Babri S, Ahmadiasl N, Mashhadi M (2010) Effects of exercise on memory consolidation and retrieval of passive avoidance learning in young male rats. Asian J Sports Med 1:137-142.

Salim S, Sarraj N, Taneja M, Saha K, Tejada-Simon MV, Chugh G (2010) Moderate treadmill exercise prevents oxidative stress-induced anxiety-like behavior in rats. Behav Brain Res 208:545-552. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2009.12.039 [doi].

Sentman ML, Granstrom M, Jakobson H, Reaume A, Basu S, Marklund SL (2006) Phenotypes of mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase and copper- and zinc-containing superoxide dismutase. J Biol Chem 281:6904-6909. doi: M510764200 [pii].

Serrano F, Klann E (2004) Reactive oxygen species and synaptic plasticity in the aging hippocampus. Ageing Res Rev 3:431-443. doi: S1568-1637(04)00030-3 [pii].

Shah SA, Yoon GH, Kim HO, Kim MO (2015) Vitamin C neuroprotection against dosedependent glutamate-induced neurodegeneration in the postnatal brain. Neurochem Res 40:875-884. doi: 10.1007/s11064-015-1540-2 [doi].

Shahidi S, Komaki A, Mahmoodi M, Atrvash N, Ghodrati M (2008) Ascorbic acid supplementation could affect passive avoidance learning and memory in rat. Brain Res Bull 76:109-113. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2008.01.003 [doi].

Shetty RA, Forster MJ, Sumien N (2013a) Coenzyme Q(10) supplementation reverses agerelated impairments in spatial learning and lowers protein oxidation. Age (Dordr) 35:1821-1834. doi: 10.1007/s11357-012-9484-9 [doi].

Shetty RA, Forster MJ, Sumien N (2013b) Coenzyme Q(10) supplementation reverses agerelated impairments in spatial learning and lowers protein oxidation. Age (Dordr) 35:1821-1834. doi: 10.1007/s11357-012-9484-9 [doi].

Shetty RA, Ikonne US, Forster MJ, Sumien N (2014) Coenzyme Q10 and alpha-tocopherol reversed age-associated functional impairments in mice. Exp Gerontol 58:208-218. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2014.08.007 [doi].

Shringarpure R, Davies KJ (2002) Protein turnover by the proteasome in aging and disease. Free Radic Biol Med 32:1084-1089. doi: S0891584902008249 [pii].

Shukitt-Hale B, Denisova NA, Strain JG, Joseph JA (1997) Psychomotor effects of dopamine infusion under decreased glutathione conditions. Free Radic Biol Med 23:412-418. doi: S0891-5849(97)00094-4 [pii].

Shukitt-Hale B, Erat SA, Joseph JA (1998) Spatial learning and memory deficits induced by dopamine administration with decreased glutathione. Free Radic Biol Med 24:1149-1158.

Shukitt-Hale B, Smith DE, Meydani M, Joseph JA (1999) The effects of dietary antioxidants on psychomotor performance in aged mice. Exp Gerontol 34:797-808. doi: S0531-5565(99)00039-X [pii].

Skrinskaia I, Nikulina EM (1994) The effect of deprenil on the dopaminergic system of the brain in mice of different genotypes during aging. Zh Vyssh Nerv Deiat Im I P Pavlova 44:842-848.

Socci DJ, Crandall BM, Arendash GW (1995) Chronic antioxidant treatment improves the cognitive performance of aged rats. Brain Res 693:88-94. doi: 0006-8993(95)00707-W [pii].

Sohal RS, Agarwal S, Dubey A, Orr WC (1993) Protein oxidative damage is associated with life expectancy of houseflies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:7255-7259.

Sohal RS, Forster MJ (2014) Caloric restriction and the aging process: a critique. Free Radic Biol Med 73:366-382. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.05.015 [doi].

Sohal RS, Ku HH, Agarwal S, Forster MJ, Lal H (1994) Oxidative damage, mitochondrial oxidant generation and antioxidant defenses during aging and in response to food restriction in the mouse. Mech Ageing Dev 74:121-133. doi: 0047-6374(94)90104-X [pii].

Sohal RS, Orr WC (2012) The redox stress hypothesis of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 52:539-555. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.10.445 [doi].

Sohal RS, Weindruch R (1996) Oxidative stress, caloric restriction, and aging. Science 273:59-63.

Somani SM, Husain K (1997) Interaction of exercise training and chronic ethanol ingestion on antioxidant system of rat brain regions. J Appl Toxicol 17:329-336. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1263(199709)17:5<329::AID-JAT452>3.0.CO;2-T [pii].

Somani SM, Ravi R, Rybak LP (1995) Effect of exercise training on antioxidant system in brain regions of rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 50:635-639. doi: 0091305794003572 [pii].

Sotiriou S, Gispert S, Cheng J, Wang Y, Chen A, Hoogstraten-Miller S, Miller GF, Kwon O, Levine M, Guttentag SH et al (2002) Ascorbic-acid transporter Slc23a1 is essential for vitamin C transport into the brain and for perinatal survival. Nat Med 8:514-517. doi: 10.1038/nm0502-514 [doi].

Steru L, Chermat R, Thierry B, Simon P (1985) The tail suspension test: a new method for screening antidepressants in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 85:367-370.

Sumien N, Heinrich KR, Shetty RA, Sohal RS, Forster MJ (2009) Prolonged intake of coenzyme Q10 impairs cognitive functions in mice. J Nutr 139:1926-1932. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.110437 [doi].

Sumien N, Heinrich KR, Sohal RS, Forster MJ (2004) Short-term vitamin E intake fails to improve cognitive or psychomotor performance of aged mice. Free Radic Biol Med 36:1424-1433. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.02.081 [doi].

Sumien N, Sims MN, Taylor HJ, Forster MJ (2006) Profiling psychomotor and cognitive aging in four-way cross mice. Age (Dordr) 28:265-282. doi: 10.1007/s11357-006-9015-7 [doi].

Sung S, Yao Y, Uryu K, Yang H, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Pratico D (2004) Early vitamin E supplementation in young but not aged mice reduces Abeta levels and amyloid deposition in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J 18:323-325. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0961fje [doi].

Sutoo D, Akiyama K (2003) Regulation of brain function by exercise. Neurobiol Dis 13:1-14. doi: S0969996103000305 [pii].

Tiidus PM, Houston ME (1995) Vitamin E status and response to exercise training. Sports Med 20:12-23.

Townsend DM, Tew KD, Tapiero H (2003) The importance of glutathione in human disease. Biomed Pharmacother 57:145-155. doi: S075333220300043X [pii].

Troen BR (2003) The biology of aging. Mt Sinai J Med 70:3-22.

Tsukui S, Kanda T, Nara M, Nishino M, Kondo T, Kobayashi I (2000) Moderate-intensity regular exercise decreases serum tumor necrosis factor-alpha and HbA1c levels in healthy women. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 24:1207-1211.

Tveden-Nyborg P, Vogt L, Schjoldager JG, Jeannet N, Hasselholt S, Paidi MD, Christen S, Lykkesfeldt J (2012) Maternal vitamin C deficiency during pregnancy persistently impairs hippocampal neurogenesis in offspring of guinea pigs. PLoS One 7:e48488. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048488 [doi].

Usoro OB, Mousa SA (2010) Vitamin E forms in Alzheimer's disease: a review of controversial and clinical experiences. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 50:414-419. doi: 10.1080/10408390802304222 [doi].

Uysal N, Tugyan K, Kayatekin BM, Acikgoz O, Bagriyanik HA, Gonenc S, Ozdemir D, Aksu I, Topcu A, Semin I (2005) The effects of regular aerobic exercise in adolescent period on hippocampal neuron density, apoptosis and spatial memory. Neurosci Lett 383:241-245. doi: S0304-3940(05)00473-8 [pii].

Vaillant J, Vuillerme N, Martigne P, Caillat-Miousse JL, Parisot J, Nougier V, Juvin R (2006) Balance, aging, and osteoporosis: effects of cognitive exercises combined with physiotherapy. Joint Bone Spine 73:414-418. doi: S1297-319X(05)00186-7 [pii]. Van der Borght K, Havekes R, Bos T, Eggen BJ, Van der Zee EA (2007) Exercise improves memory acquisition and retrieval in the Y-maze task: relationship with hippocampal neurogenesis. Behav Neurosci 121:324-334. doi: 2007-04812-009 [pii].

van Praag H, Christie BR, Sejnowski TJ, Gage FH (1999) Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:13427-13431.

Vaupel JW (2010) Biodemography of human ageing. Nature 464:536-542. doi: 10.1038/nature08984 [doi].

Vaynman S, Ying Z, Gomez-Pinilla F (2004) Hippocampal BDNF mediates the efficacy of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. Eur J Neurosci 20:2580-2590. doi: EJN3720 [pii].

Wagner GC, Carelli RM, Jarvis MF (1986) Ascorbic acid reduces the dopamine depletion induced by methamphetamine and the 1-methyl-4-phenyl pyridinium ion. Neuropharmacology 25:559-561.

Wang X, Michaelis EK (2010a) Selective neuronal vulnerability to oxidative stress in the brain. Front Aging Neurosci 2:12. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2010.00012 [doi].

Wang X, Michaelis EK (2010b) Selective neuronal vulnerability to oxidative stress in the brain. Front Aging Neurosci 2:12. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2010.00012 [doi].

Warburton DE, Nicol CW, Bredin SS (2006) Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ 174:801-809. doi: 174/6/801 [pii].

Weinert BT, Timiras PS (2003) Invited review: Theories of aging. J Appl Physiol (1985) 95:1706-1716. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00288.2003 [doi].

Williams MH (2004) Dietary supplements and sports performance: introduction and vitamins. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 1:1-6. doi: 10.1186/1550-2783-1-2-1 [doi].

Williams MH (1989) Vitamin supplementation and athletic performance. Int J Vitam Nutr Res Suppl 30:163-191.

Wray DW, Uberoi A, Lawrenson L, Bailey DM, Richardson RS (2009) Oral antioxidants and cardiovascular health in the exercise-trained and untrained elderly: a radically different outcome. Clin Sci (Lond) 116:433-441. doi: 10.1042/CS20080337 [doi].

Wu A, Ying Z, Gomez-Pinilla F (2008) Docosahexaenoic acid dietary supplementation enhances the effects of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. Neuroscience 155:751-759. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.05.061 [doi].

Yamamoto Y, Fujisawa A, Hara A, Dunlap WC (2001) An unusual vitamin E constituent (alphatocomonoenol) provides enhanced antioxidant protection in marine organisms adapted to coldwater environments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:13144-13148. doi: 10.1073/pnas.241024298 [doi].

Yan JH, Thomas JR, Stelmach GE (1998) Aging and rapid aiming arm movement control. Exp Aging Res 24:155-168. doi: 10.1080/036107398244292 [doi].

Yan JH, Thomas JR, Stelmach GE, Thomas KT (2000) Developmental features of rapid aiming arm movements across the lifespan. J Mot Behav 32:121-140. doi: 10.1080/00222890009601365 [doi].

Yang H, Mahan DC, Hill DA, Shipp TE, Radke TR, Cecava MJ (2009) Effect of vitamin E source, natural versus synthetic, and quantity on serum and tissue alpha-tocopherol concentrations in finishing swine. J Anim Sci 87:4057-4063. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1570 [doi].

Yfanti C, Akerstrom T, Nielsen S, Nielsen AR, Mounier R, Mortensen OH, Lykkesfeldt J, Rose AJ, Fischer CP, Pedersen BK (2010) Antioxidant supplementation does not alter endurance training adaptation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 42:1388-1395. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181cd76be [doi].

Yokota T, Igarashi K, Uchihara T, Jishage K, Tomita H, Inaba A, Li Y, Arita M, Suzuki H, Mizusawa H et al (2001a) Delayed-onset ataxia in mice lacking alpha -tocopherol transfer protein: model for neuronal degeneration caused by chronic oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:15185-15190. doi: 10.1073/pnas.261456098 [doi].

Yokota T, Igarashi K, Uchihara T, Jishage K, Tomita H, Inaba A, Li Y, Arita M, Suzuki H, Mizusawa H et al (2001b) Delayed-onset ataxia in mice lacking alpha -tocopherol transfer protein: model for neuronal degeneration caused by chronic oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:15185-15190. doi: 10.1073/pnas.261456098 [doi].

Young IS, Woodside JV (2001) Antioxidants in health and disease. J Clin Pathol 54:176-186.

Yu BP (1996) Aging and oxidative stress: modulation by dietary restriction. Free Radic Biol Med 21:651-668. doi: 0891584996001621 [pii].

Zandi PP, Anthony JC, Khachaturian AS, Stone SV, Gustafson D, Tschanz JT, Norton MC, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Breitner JC, Cache County Study Group (2004) Reduced risk of Alzheimer disease in users of antioxidant vitamin supplements: the Cache County Study. Arch Neurol 61:82-88. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61.1.82 [doi].

Zhang D, Okada S, Yu Y, Zheng P, Yamaguchi R, Kasai H (1997) Vitamin E inhibits apoptosis, DNA modification, and cancer incidence induced by iron-mediated peroxidation in Wistar rat kidney. Cancer Res 57:2410-2414.

Zitka O, Skalickova S, Gumulec J, Masarik M, Adam V, Hubalek J, Trnkova L, Kruseova J, Eckschlager T, Kizek R (2012) Redox status expressed as GSH:GSSG ratio as a marker for

oxidative stress in paediatric tumour patients. Oncol Lett 4:1247-1253. doi: 10.3892/ol.2012.931 [doi].